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Management’s Responsibility for Financial Reporting 
 

The accompanying consolidated financial statements of Iplayco Corporation Ltd. (“Iplayco” or 
“the Corporation”) and management’s discussion and analysis of financial condition and results 
of operations (“MD&A”), disclosed separately, are the responsibility of management and have 
been approved by the Board of Directors of the Corporation. 

These consolidated financial statements have been prepared by management in accordance with 
International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). The preparation of these consolidated 
financial statements requires that management make judgments, estimates and assumptions 
that affect the amounts reported in these consolidated financial statements. Estimates and 
judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the 
circumstances, in order to ensure fair presentation, in all material respects, of these 
consolidated financial statements in accordance with IFRS. Management has also prepared the 
MD&A, disclosed separately, on a basis that is consistent with these consolidated financial 
statements. 

Iplayco maintains systems of internal controls designed to provide reasonable assurance that 
the financial information is relevant, reliable and accurate and that the Corporation’s assets are 
appropriately accounted for and adequately safeguarded. 

The Board of Directors is responsible for ensuring that management fulfills its responsibilities for 
financial reporting and is ultimately responsible for reviewing and approving these consolidated 
financial statements. The Board carries out this responsibility principally through its Audit 
Committee. The Audit Committee is appointed by the Board, and two of its three members are 
independent directors. The Audit Committee meets periodically with management and the 
independent auditors to discuss internal controls over financial reporting, auditing matters and 
financial issues, to ensure that each party is properly discharging its responsibilities. The Audit 
Committee also reviews the consolidated financial statements, the independent auditor’s report, 
and the MD&A. The Audit Committee reports its findings to the Board for consideration when 
approving the consolidated financial statements for issuance to the shareholders. The Audit 
Committee also considers, for review by the Board and approval by the shareholders, the 
engagement or re-appointment of the independent auditors. The accompanying consolidated 
financial statements have been audited in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing 
standards by Deloitte LLP on behalf of the shareholders of Iplayco. Deloitte LLP has full and free 
access to the Audit Committee. 

 
 “Max Liszkowski”  “Scott Forbes” 

 Chief Financial Officer and 
Corporate Secretary 

 President & Chief Executive 
Officer and Director 
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR'S REPORT 

To the Shareholders of Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 

We have audited the accompanying consolidated financial statements of Iplayco Corporation Ltd., which 
comprise the consolidated statements of financial position as at September 30, 2016 and September 30, 
2015, and the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss), consolidated 
statements of changes in shareholders' equity and consolidated statements of cash flows for the years then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information. 

Management's Responsibility for the Consolidated Financial Statements 

Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these consolidated financial 
statements in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards, and for such internal control as 
management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are 
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error. 

Auditor's Responsibility 

Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these consolidated financial statements based on our audits. 
We conducted our audits in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Those 
standards require that we comply with ethical requirements and plan and perform the audit to obtain 
reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements are free from material 
misstatement. 

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
consolidated financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment, including the 
assessment of the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due to 
fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity's 
preparation and fair presentation of the consolidated financial statements in order to design audit procedures 
that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the 
effectiveness of the entity's internal control. An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of 
accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates made by management, as well as 
evaluating the overall presentation of the consolidated financial statements. 
 
We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained in our audits is sufficient and appropriate to provide a 
basis for our audit opinion. 
 
Opinion 

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial 
position of Iplayco Corporation Ltd. as at September 30, 2016 and September 30, 2015, and its financial 
performance and its cash flows for the years then ended in accordance with International Financial 
Reporting Standards. 
 
 
(signed Deloitte LLP) 
 
Chartered Professional Accountants 
December 7, 2016 
Vancouver, Canada  
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Iplayco Corporation Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Financial Position
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

September 30,

Notes 2016 2015

Assets

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 5,109,026$     4,947,024$        

Finance receivables 10 3,725,753       -                         

Trade and other receivables 21 9,374,759       6,873,151          

Income taxes receivable 585,969          224,900             

Inventories 6 2,196,019       2,008,310          

Prepaid expenses and deposits 446,808          740,764             

21,438,334     14,794,149        
Non-current assets

Equipment 7 1,998,516       1,717,526          

Deferred income tax assets 19 97,513            150,393             

Total Assets 23,534,363$  16,662,068$      

Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity

Current liabilities

Operating loans 9 3,238,430$     -     $                  

Securitization debt 10 3,461,314       -                         

Trade payables, accrued charges and other 13 2,350,610       2,076,735          

Customer deposits and deferred revenue 1,830,897       975,738             

Current portion of rent inducement 18 5,283               15,791               

10,886,534     3,068,264          
Non-current liabilities

Rent inducement 18 139,837          121,112             

Deferred income tax liabilities 19 77,475            87,024               

Total Liabilities 11,103,846     3,276,400          

Shareholders' Equity

Share capital 9,859,270       9,859,270          

Warrants reserve 450,971          450,971             

Share-based payments reserve 256,858          256,858             

Retained earnings 1,863,418       2,818,569          

Total Shareholders' Equity 12,430,517     13,385,668        

Total Liabilities and Shareholders' Equity 23,534,363$  16,662,068$      

Commitments (Note 18)

Subsequent event (Note 23)

"Scott Forbes"           "Muhanad Awad"
................................... .............................................

President & CEO  Chairman of the Board

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.
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Iplayco Corporation Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Operations and
Comprehensive Income (Loss)
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except number of shares)

Notes 2016 2015

Sales 16 17,023,914$  17,202,988$    
Cost of sales 17 12,126,832    10,876,326      

Gross profit 4,897,082      6,326,662        

Selling and administrative expenses 17 5,885,800      5,880,947        
Foreign exchange loss (gain) 220,262          (586,025)          

6,106,062      5,294,922        

Operating income (loss) (1,208,980)     1,031,740        

Finance costs 114,715          320,059           

Income (loss) before income taxes (1,323,695)     711,681           

Income tax provision
Current 19 (411,875)        209,585           
Deferred 19 43,331            (14,966)            

(368,544)        194,619           

(955,151)        517,062           

Net income (loss) per common share
Basic 14(b) (0.05)$            0.03$               
Diluted 14(b) (0.05)$            0.03$               

Basic 14(b) 20,870,187    19,436,533      
Diluted 14(b) 20,870,187    20,358,168      

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Weighted average number of common shares outstanding

Years ended September 30,

Net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss)
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Iplayco Corporation Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Changes in Shareholders' Equity
(Expressed in Canadian dollars, except number of common shares)

 Number of 
common 

shares Amount
Warrants 

reserve

Share-based 
payments 
reserve(2)

Retained 
earnings

 Total 
shareholders' 

equity 

Balance at September 30, 2014 10,220,187    1,757,643$    -     $              256,858$       2,301,507$    4,316,008$         

Proceeds from private placement, less share 
issuance costs net of income tax (Note 14(a)) 10,650,000    8,101,627      450,971         -                     -                     8,552,598           

Net income and total comprehensive income -                     -                     -                     -                     517,062         517,062              

Balance at September 30, 2015 20,870,187    9,859,270$    450,971$       256,858$       2,818,569$    13,385,668$       

Net loss and total comprehensive loss -                   -                   -                   -                   (955,151)    (955,151)         

Balance at September 30, 2016 20,870,187 9,859,270$ 450,971$    256,858$    1,863,418$ 12,430,517$   

⁽¹⁾ Authorized share capital is comprised of an unlimited number of voting common shares without par value and an unlimited number of preferred shares without par value.

The preferred shares may be issued as either voting or non-voting.  No preferred shares have been issued.

(2) The share-based payments reserve is comprised of the grant date fair value of share options that have expired unexercised.

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Share capital⁽¹⁾
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Iplayco Corporation Ltd.
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)

Notes 2016 2015

Operating activities

Net income (loss) (955,151)$    517,062$          

Items not affecting cash

Depreciation 7 370,996        339,849            

Deferred income taxes 19 43,331           (14,966)            

Rent inducement 8,217             (6,742)              

Unrealized loss on foreign exchange derivatives 13, 21(b) 60,716           -                       

Unrealized foreign exchange gain (71,606)         (258,702)          

Finance costs 114,715        320,059            

(428,782)       896,560            

Change in non-cash operating working capital

Finance receivables (3,688,810)   3,388,255         

Trade and other receivables (2,383,916)   (4,030,348)       

Inventories (61,154)         (647,859)          

Prepaid expenses 319,410        (63,665)            

Trade payables, accrued charges and other 170,831        (5,464)              

Current income tax expense (recovery) 19 (411,875)       209,585            

Customer deposits and deferred revenue 855,159        106,382            

(5,200,355)   (1,043,114)       

Interest paid (71,831)         (320,059)          

Income taxes paid -                     (743,696)          

Cash used in operating activities (5,700,968)   (1,210,309)       

Investing activities

Acquisition of IREC Corporation, net of cash acquired 12 (172,800)       -                       

Purchase of equipment 7 (580,885)       (454,286)          

Cash used in investing activities (753,685)       (454,286)          

Financing activities

Proceeds from operating loans 9 5,485,212     1,698,614         

Repayment of operating loans 9 -                     (784,560)          

Proceeds from securitization debt 10 1,145,120     1,107,357         

Repayment of securitization debt 10 -                     (5,855,400)       

Repayment of subordinate debt -                     (557,517)          

Increase in share issuance costs 14(a) -                     (17,093)            

Proceeds from issuance of shares and warrants 14(a) -                     8,839,500         

Cash provided by financing activities 6,630,332     4,430,901         

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 175,679        2,766,306         

Effect of foreign exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (13,677)         90,467              

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the year 4,947,024     2,090,251         

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the year 5,109,026$   4,947,024$       

Cash and cash equivalents comprised of:

Cash 5,109,026$   4,647,024$       
Cash equivalents -                     300,000            

Supplemental cash flow disclosures - non cash transactions

Purchase of equipment 7 23,520$        33,916$            

9 2,282,945     1,698,614         
Amortization of financing costs - subordinate debt -                     15,731              

The accompanying notes form an integral part of these Consolidated Financial Statements.

Years ended September 30,

Settlement of operating loans with proceeds from securitization debt



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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1. Nature of business and corporate information 

 Iplayco Corporation Ltd. (the “Corporation”) is incorporated under the Alberta Business 
Corporations Act and its common shares trade on the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading 
symbol “IPC”.   

 The Corporation’s business is carried out through its wholly owned subsidiaries, International 
Play Company Inc. (“IPC”), Iplayco Inc. (“IPI”), Iplayco Canada Inc. (“ICI”), Outdoor Play 
Company Inc. (“OPC”), and IREC Corporation (“IREC”).  The Corporation operates in two 
business segments: (i) Manufacturing of play structures for children from its production plants 
in Langley, British Columbia, Canada, and Subic Bay, Philippines; and (ii) Operating a family 
entertainment centre in Langley, British Columbia, Canada. 

 The Corporation’s head office is located at 215, 27353 – 58th Crescent, Langley, British 
Columbia, Canada V4W 3W7, and its registered office is located at 1600, 421 – 7th Avenue SW, 
Calgary, Alberta, Canada T2P 4K9. 

  
  
2. Basis of preparation and adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards 

 Statement of compliance 

 These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared in accordance with International 
Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”) as issued by the International Accounting Standards 
Board (“IASB”).    

 These Consolidated Financial Statements were authorized for issue by the Board of Directors on 
December 7, 2016. 

 Basis of measurement 

 These Consolidated Financial Statements have been prepared on a going-concern basis, under 
the historical cost convention.  

 Functional and presentation currency 

 The functional and presentation currency of the Corporation and its subsidiaries is the Canadian 
dollar. 
  

 
3. Significant accounting policies 

 Basis of consolidation 

 These Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of the Corporation and its wholly-
owned subsidiaries. Subsidiaries are entities over which the Corporation exercises control, 
where control is defined as the power to govern financial and operating policies of an entity so 
as to obtain benefits from its activities, which is generally the case when owning more than half 
of the voting rights. The accounts of subsidiaries are included in Consolidated Financial 
Statements from the date that control commences to the date that control ceases. 
Intercompany balances, transactions and revenues and expenses have been eliminated in the 
Consolidated Financial Statements. The accounting policies of the Corporation’s subsidiaries are 
consistent with the policies adopted by the Corporation. 

  



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Foreign currency transactions  

 Transactions in foreign currencies are translated to the functional currency of the Corporation 
and its subsidiaries at the exchange rate in effect at the transaction date.  Monetary assets and 
liabilities denominated in other than the functional currency are translated at the exchange 
rates in effect at each reporting date.  The resulting exchange gains and losses are recognized 
through net income and total comprehensive income. Non-monetary items that are measured in 
terms of historical cost in other than the functional currency are translated using the exchange 
rate at the date of the transaction.  Foreign currency gains and losses are reported on a net 
basis in net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss). 

 Financial instruments 

 (i)  Financial assets  

 The Corporation initially recognizes loans and receivables and deposits on the date that they 
are originated and all other financial assets on the trade date at which the Corporation 
becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.  The Corporation 
derecognizes a financial asset when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the asset 
expire, or when it transfers substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
financial asset.    

 Financial assets at fair value through net income (loss) and total comprehensive income 
(loss):  

 Financial assets are classified at fair value through net income (loss) and total 
comprehensive income (loss) if they are held for trading or if the Corporation manages such 
investments and makes purchase and sale decisions based on their fair value in accordance 
with the Corporation’s treasury policies.  Financial assets at fair value through net income 
(loss) and total comprehensive income (loss) are measured at fair value, with changes to 
their fair value recognized through net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss). 

  Loans and receivables:  
 Loans and receivables are financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are not 

quoted in an active market.  Such assets are recognized initially at fair value, net of 
transaction costs, and subsequently at amortized cost using the effective interest method, 
less any impairment losses.  Loans and receivables are comprised of the Corporation’s cash, 
cash equivalents, finance receivables, and trade and other receivables. 

 
 The Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents consist of cash on deposit and highly liquid 

short-term interest-bearing securities with maturities at the date of purchase of three 
months or less.    

 Determination of fair value:  
 The fair value of financial assets at fair value through net income (loss) and total 

comprehensive income (loss) and available-for-sale are determined by reference to their 
quoted closing bid price at the reporting date if they are traded in an active market.  For 
derivative instruments, including foreign exchange forward contracts, fair value is estimated 
based on forward exchange rates, from observable forward exchange rates at the end of the 
reporting period, and contract forward rates, discounted at a rate that reflects the credit risk 
of the counterparties.  The fair value of loans and receivables is estimated as the present 
value of future cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest at the reporting date. 

  



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Financial instruments (continued) 

 
 (ii)  Financial liabilities  

 Financial liabilities are comprised of the Corporation’s operating loans, securitization debt, 
and trade payables and accrued charges. The financial liabilities are initially recognized on 
the date they are originated and are derecognized when the contractual obligations are 
discharged or cancelled or expire.  These financial liabilities are recognized initially at fair 
value, net of transaction costs, and subsequently are measured at amortized cost using the 
effective interest method.  Fair value is determined based on the present value of future 
cash flows, discounted at the market rate of interest. 

Inventories 

 Inventories are recorded at the lower of cost and net realizable value.  The cost of inventories is 
based on the first-in first-out principle, and includes expenditures incurred in acquiring the 
inventories, production or conversion costs, and other costs incurred in bringing them to their 
existing location and condition.  In the case of manufactured inventories and work in progress, 
cost includes materials, labour and appropriate share of production overhead based on normal 
operating capacity.  Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less the estimated costs of completion and selling expenses.  In establishing any 
impairment of inventory, management estimates the likelihood that inventory carrying values 
will be affected by changes in market demand and design, which would impair the value of 
inventory on hand. 

Equipment and depreciation 

 Equipment is measured at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated impairment 
losses. 

 When parts of an item of equipment have different useful lives, they are accounted for as 
separate items (major components).  

 Equipment is amortized from the date of acquisition or, in respect of internally constructed 
assets, from the time an asset is completed and ready for use, using the following methods less 
residual value over the estimated useful lives of the assets as follows: 

 Automotive 30% declining balance 
 Computer equipment 30% declining balance 
 Furniture and fixtures 20% declining balance 
 Machinery and equipment 20% declining balance 
 Moulds 30% declining balance 
 Leasehold improvements  Straight-line over lease term 
  
 Depreciation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at each financial year-end 

and adjusted as appropriate.   
 
 Gains and losses on disposal of equipment are determined by comparing the proceeds from 

disposal with the carrying amount of equipment, and are recognized net in net income (loss) 
and total comprehensive income (loss). 

  



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Leases 

 Leases where the Corporation assumes substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership are 
classified as finance leases.  Upon initial recognition the leased asset together with a 
corresponding long-term liability is measured at an amount equal to the lower of its fair value 
and the present value of the minimum lease payments. Subsequent to initial recognition, the 
asset is accounted for in accordance with the accounting policy applicable to that asset and the 
liability is measured at amortized cost using the effective interest rate method. Other leases are 
operating leases and not recognized in the statement of financial position.   

 Minimum lease payments made under finance leases are apportioned between the finance cost 
and the reduction of the outstanding liability.  The finance cost is allocated to each period during 
the lease term so as to produce a constant periodic rate of interest on the remaining balance of 
the liability. 

 Payments made under operating leases are recognized through net income (loss) and total 
comprehensive income (loss) on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease. Lease 
incentives received are recognized as a reduction to the lease expense over the term of the 
lease.  

Impairment 

 (i) Financial assets  

 Financial assets not carried at fair value through net income (loss) and total comprehensive 
income (loss) are assessed for impairment at each reporting date by determining whether 
there is objective evidence that indicates that a loss event has occurred after the initial 
recognition of the asset, and that the loss event had a negative effect on the estimated 
future cash flows of that asset that can be estimated reliably.   

 (ii) Non-financial assets  

 The carrying amounts of the Corporation’s non-financial assets other than inventories and 
income taxes are reviewed at each reporting date to determine whether there is any 
indication of impairment.  If any such indication exists, then the asset’s recoverable amount 
is estimated.   

 The recoverable amount of an asset, or cash-generating unit, is the greater of its value in 
use and its fair value less costs to sell.  In assessing value in use, the estimated future cash 
flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.  For the 
purposes of impairment testing, assets that cannot be tested individually are grouped 
together into the smallest group of assets that generates cash inflows from continuing use 
that are largely independent of the cash inflows of other groups of assets. 

 An impairment loss is recognized if the carrying amount of an asset or its cash-generating 
unit exceeds its estimated recoverable amount. Impairment losses are recognized through 
net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss). Impairment losses recognized in 
respect of the cash-generating units are allocated first to reduce the carrying amount of any 
goodwill allocated to the units, and then to reduce the carrying amounts of the other assets 
in the unit on a pro-rata basis.  

 For non-financial assets other than goodwill, impairment losses recognized in prior periods 
are assessed at each reporting date for any indications that the loss has decreased or no 
longer exists. An impairment loss is reversed only to the extent that the asset’s carrying 
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined, net of 
depreciation, if no impairment loss had been recognized.   



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 

11 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Provisions 

A provision is recognized if, as a result of a past event, the Corporation has a present legal or 
constructive obligation that can be estimated reliably, and it is probable that an outflow of 
economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation.  Provisions are determined by 
discounting the expected future cash flows at a pre-tax rate that reflects current market 
assessments of the time value of money and the risk specific to the liability.  The unwinding of 
the discount is recognized as a finance cost. 

 Revenue recognition 

 The Corporation generates revenue from the following principle sources: 

 The sale and installation of play structure equipment by its manufacturing operations 
(“Manufacturing Operations”); and 

 Admission fees, redemption games, and the sale of concession goods by its family 
entertainment centre operations (“FEC Operations”). 

 Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable. 

(i) Revenue Recognition – Manufacturing Operations 

Revenue from the sale of equipment is recognized when all the following conditions are 
satisfied: 

 The Corporation has transferred to the customer the significant risks and rewards of 
ownership of the equipment; 

 The Corporation retains neither continuing managerial involvement to the degree usually 
associated with ownership nor effective control over the equipment sold; 

 The amount of revenue can be measured reliably; 

 It is probable that the economic benefits associated with the transaction will flow to the 
Corporation; and 

 The costs incurred or to be incurred in respect of the transaction can be measured 
reliably. 

Arrangements that include the sale of equipment and installation services are accounted for 
as multiple element revenue transactions. The equipment and the installation services are 
separate units of accounting in the arrangement because the equipment has stand-alone 
value, as it is sometimes sold separately, and because there are no general return or refund 
rights. Arrangement consideration is allocated to the separate units of accounting based on 
their relative selling price (the relative selling price method). When applying the relative 
selling price method, the selling price for each deliverable is determined using vendor-
specific objective evidence of selling price, if it exists, otherwise third-party evidence of 
selling price. If neither vendor-specific objective evidence nor third-party evidence of selling 
price exists for a deliverable, the Corporation uses its best estimate of the selling price for 
that deliverable when applying the relative selling price method.  

None of the amount allocable to the equipment is contingent upon performing the 
installation. The consideration allocated to the installation services is not recognized as 
revenue at the time of the initial sale transaction, but is deferred and recognized as revenue 
upon completion of the installation of equipment and when the Corporation’s obligations 
have been fulfilled. 

  



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Revenue recognition (continued) 

On long-term fixed price contracts for the sale of larger play structures, revenues are 
recognized on the percentage of completion basis over the duration of the contract, which 
consists of recognizing revenue on a given contract proportionately with its percentage of 
completion at any given time. The percentage of completion is determined by dividing the 
cumulative costs incurred as at the reporting date by the sum of incurred and anticipated 
costs for completing the contract. The cumulative effect of changes to anticipated revenues 
and anticipated costs for completing the contract are recognized in the period in which the 
revisions are identified.  In the event that the anticipated costs exceed the anticipated 
revenues on the contract, such loss is recognized in its entirety in the period it becomes 
known. 

Amounts received from customers in excess of revenue recognized on uncompleted 
contracts are recorded as deferred revenue.   

(ii) Revenue Recognition – FEC Operations 

Revenue from admission fees, redemption games, and the sale of concession goods are 
recognized at the point of sale. Amounts received from customers for future admissions are 
recorded as customer deposits. 

Finance costs  

Finance costs are comprised of interest expense on loans, finance leases, unwinding of the 
discount on provisions and impairment losses recognized on financial assets. 

Income taxes 

 Income taxes are comprised of current and deferred income taxes. Income tax is recognized in 
net income (loss) and total comprehensive income (loss) except to the extent that it relates to 
items recognized directly in equity, in which case it is recognized in equity.  

 Current income tax expense is based on the results for the period as adjusted for items that are 
not taxable or not deductible for income tax purposes. Current income tax is calculated using 
income tax rates and laws that were enacted or substantively enacted at the reporting date. 

 Deferred income tax is recorded using the liability method. Under this method, the Corporation 
calculates temporary differences between the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their 
carrying amounts for financial reporting purposes at the period end date. Deferred income tax is 
calculated based on the expected manner of realization or settlement of the carrying amount of 
assets and liabilities, using income tax rates that are expected to apply to the year of realization 
or settlement based on income tax rates and laws enacted or substantively enacted at the 
period end date. 

 Temporary differences are not recorded for the initial recognition of assets or liabilities that do 
not affect accounting or taxable profit and differences relating to investments in subsidiaries, to 
the extent that the Corporation is able to control the reversal of such differences, and it is 
probable that such differences will not reverse in the foreseeable future.  

 Deferred income tax assets are recognized to the extent it is probable that taxable profits will 
be available against which the deductible temporary differences can be utilized. The carrying 
amount of deferred income tax assets is reviewed at each reporting date and reduced to the 
extent that it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be available to allow all or 
part of the asset to be recovered. 

  



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 

13 
 

3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

Income taxes (continued) 

 Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to 
offset current income tax assets against current income tax liabilities, and when they relate to 
income taxes levied by the same taxation authority, and the Corporation intends to settle its 
current income tax assets and liabilities on a net basis. 

 Employee future benefits 

 A defined contribution plan is a post-employment benefit plan under which an entity pays fixed 
contributions into a separate entity and will have no legal or constructive obligation to pay 
further amounts. Obligations for contributions to defined contribution pension plans are 
recognized as an employee benefit expense in net income (loss) and total comprehensive 
income (loss) in the periods during which services are rendered by employees.  Prepaid 
contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a reduction in 
future payments is available.  

 The Corporation’s defined contribution plan is a group registered retirement savings plan 
(“Group Plan”) in which full-time employees are eligible to participate.  The Group Plan provides 
for eligible employees to receive matching contributions from the Corporation at pre-defined 
rates. 

 Short-term employee benefit obligations are measured on an undiscounted basis and are 
expensed as the related service is provided.  A liability is recognized for the amount expected to 
be paid under short-term cash or share bonus if the Corporation has a present legal or 
constructive obligation to pay this amount as a result of past service provided by the employee, 
and the obligation can be estimated reliably. 

 Share-based compensation plan 

 The Corporation uses the fair-value based method of accounting for share-based compensation 
for all awards of share options granted.  The resulting compensation expense, based on the fair 
value of the awards granted is charged through net income (loss) and total comprehensive 
income (loss) over the period that the employees unconditionally become entitled to the award, 
with a corresponding increase to the share-based payments reserve.  Fair values of share 
options are calculated using the Black-Scholes valuation method as of the grant date and 
estimated for forfeitures. For awards with graded vesting, the fair value of each tranche is 
recognized over its respective vesting period.  

 At each reporting date, the Corporation reassesses its estimates of the number of awards that 
are expected to vest and recognizes the impact of any revision through net income (loss) and 
total comprehensive income (loss) with a corresponding adjustment to equity. 

 The Corporation issues share options under its share-based compensation plans as described in 
Note 15.  Any consideration paid by employees on exercise of share options or purchase of 
shares, together with the amount initially recorded in the share-based payments reserve, is 
credited to share capital. 

 Net income per share 

 Basic net income per common share is calculated using the weighted average number of 
common shares outstanding during the year. Diluted net income per share reflects the potential 
dilution of common share equivalents, such as outstanding stock options, if any, in the weighted 
average number of common shares outstanding during the year, if dilutive.  
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3. Significant accounting policies (continued) 

 Net income per share (continued) 

 For this purpose, the “treasury stock method” is used for the assumed proceeds upon the 
exercise of outstanding stock options that are used to purchase common shares at the average 
market price during the period. 

 Segment reporting  

 An operating segment is a component of the Corporation that engages in business activities 
from which it may earn revenues and incur expenses, including revenues and expenses that 
relate to transactions with any of the Corporation’s other components.  Segment results include 
items directly attributable to a segment as well as those that can be allocated on a reasonable 
basis. 

 The Corporation’s operating segments are organized around the markets it serves and are 
reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the Corporation’s 
President & Chief Executive Officer.  The Corporation’s President & Chief Executive Officer is 
considered the chief operating decision-maker and has the authority for resource allocation and 
is responsible for assessing the Corporation’s performance.   

  

4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments  

 The preparation of these Consolidated Financial Statements requires the Corporation’s 
management to make judgments, estimates and assumptions that affect the amounts reported 
in these financial statements and the accompanying notes.  Actual results may differ from those 
estimates.    

 Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and 
other factors including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under 
the circumstances. Revisions to accounting estimates are recognized in the period in which the 
estimates are revised and in any future periods affected. 

 
 The estimates and assumptions critical to the determination of carrying value of the 

Corporation’s assets and liabilities are discussed below: 
 
 Functional currency  

 The Corporation has performed an analysis with respect to its functional currency and that of its 
subsidiaries. For the Corporation and its subsidiary OPC, substantially all revenues and 
operating expenses are denominated in Canadian dollars. For the Corporation’s subsidiaries IPC, 
IPI and ICI, revenues are primarily denominated in U.S. dollars and the majority of operating 
expenditures are denominated in Canadian dollars. Sales contracts are costed in Canadian 
dollars and receipts from operating activities denominated in U.S. dollars are usually converted 
and retained in Canadian dollars. For the Corporation’s subsidiary IREC, its operations are 
funded by IPC. The Corporation has concluded that the Canadian dollar is the currency that 
mainly influences the cost of providing goods and services by the Corporation and its 
subsidiaries. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

 Revenue  

 Revenue recognized on the percentage of completion basis consists of recognizing revenue on a 
given contract proportionately with its percentage of completion at any given time. The 
percentage of completion is determined by dividing the cumulative costs incurred as at the 
reporting date by the sum of incurred and anticipated costs for completing the contract. 
Changes in management’s estimated costs to complete a contract may result in an adjustment 
to previously recognized revenues. 

 
 Allowance for doubtful accounts and sales adjustments  

 In determining whether trade receivables are collectible from customers, management 
establishes an allowance for estimated losses arising from non-payment and other sales 
adjustments, taking into consideration customer creditworthiness, current economic trends and 
past experience. If future collections differ from management’s estimates, future earnings would 
be affected. 

 
 Inventory 

 In determining the lower of cost and net realizable value of inventory and in establishing the 
appropriate impairment amount for inventory obsolescence, management estimates the 
likelihood that inventory carrying values will be affected by changes in market pricing or 
demand for the products and by changes in design which could make inventory on hand 
obsolete or recoverable at less than the recorded value.  Management performs regular reviews 
to assess the impact of changes in design, sales trends and other changes on the carrying value 
of inventory.  Where it is determined that such changes have occurred and will have an impact 
on the value of inventory on hand, appropriate adjustments are made.  If there is a subsequent 
increase in the value of inventory on hand, reversals of previous write-downs to net realizable 
value are made. Unforeseen changes in these factors could result in additional inventory 
provisions, or reversals of previous provisions, being required. 

  
 Equipment 

 Management estimates the useful lives of equipment based on the period during which the 
assets are expected to be available for use.  The amounts and timing of recorded expenses for 
depreciation of equipment for any period are affected by these estimated useful lives.  The 
estimates are reviewed at least annually and are updated if expectations change as a result of 
physical wear and tear or commercial obsolescence.  It is possible that changes in these factors 
may cause significant changes in the estimated useful lives of the Corporation’s equipment in 
the future. 

  
 Income taxes 

 The Corporation’s manufacturing operations generates sales from customers located in various 
tax jurisdictions and as a result, the Corporation’s income may become subject to taxation in 
those jurisdictions. The complexity of tax regulations requires assessments of uncertainties and 
judgments in estimating the taxes the Corporation will ultimately pay. The final taxes paid may 
be dependent upon many factors, including negotiations with various taxing authorities, 
outcomes of potential tax litigation and resolution of disputes arising from federal, provincial, 
state and local tax audits. The resolution of these potential uncertainties and the associated 
final taxes may result in adjustments to the Corporation's tax assets and tax liabilities. 
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4. Critical accounting estimates and judgments (continued) 

 Income taxes (continued) 

 The Corporation estimates deferred income taxes based upon temporary differences between 
the assets and liabilities that it reports in its Consolidated Financial Statements and the tax 
bases of its assets and liabilities as determined under applicable tax laws. The amount of 
deferred tax assets recognized is generally limited to the extent that it is probable that taxable 
profit will be available against which the related deductible temporary differences can be 
utilized. Therefore, the amount of the deferred income tax asset recognized and considered 
realizable could be reduced if projected income is not achieved. 

 
 
5. New accounting pronouncements 

 The following applicable pronouncements issued by the IASB are effective for the Corporation’s 
annual accounting periods after September 30, 2016. The Corporation is assessing the impact of 
these new standards on its Consolidated Financial Statements: 

 
 Revenues recognition 

 In May 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 15 – Revenue from Contracts with Customers (“IFRS 15”) 
which supersedes current revenue recognition guidance, including IAS 18 – Revenue, IAS 11 – 
Construction Contracts, and related interpretations. IFRS 15 establishes a single five-step model 
for determining the nature, amount, timing and uncertainty of revenue and cash flows arising 
from a contract with a customer. The standard is effective for annual periods beginning on or 
after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted.  

  
 Financial instruments 

 In July 2014, the IASB issued IFRS 9 – Financial Instruments (“IFRS 9”) to replace IAS 39 – 
Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement. IFRS 9 provides a revised model for 
recognition and measurement of financial instruments and a single model for impairment. IFRS 
9 also includes a substantially reformed approach to hedge accounting. The standard is effective 
for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2018, with early adoption permitted. 

 
 Leases 

 In January 2016, the IASB issued IFRS 16 – Leases, which brings most leases onto the 
statement of financial position by eliminating the different accounting treatment applied by 
lessees to operating leases as compared to finance leases. The standard is effective for annual 
periods beginning on or after January 1, 2019, with early adoption permitted. 

 
 
  



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars) 
 
 

17 
 

6. Inventories 

  
 
Inventories included in cost of sales for the year ended September 30, 2016 amount to 
$6,737,970 (September 30, 2015 - $6,252,105). 
 
The following table reflects the movement in allowance for inventory obsolescence: 

  
  

2016 2015

Raw materials 1,572,856$      1,764,728$        

Work in progress 296,480           74,474              

Finished goods 326,683           169,108             

Total inventory 2,196,019$      2,008,310$        

September 30,

2016 2015

Balance at beginning of year 70,084$           74,388$             

Write-offs (64,154)           (22,631)             

Increase (reversal) of allowance (5,930)             18,327              

Balance at end of year -     $               70,084$             

September 30,



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  

 
 

18 
 

7.     Equipment 

  

 

 

Automotive
Computer 

Equipment
Furniture and 

Fixtures
Machinery and 

Equipment Moulds
Leasehold 

Improvements Total

Carrying amount at September 30, 2014 6,057$              163,091$           80,079$            735,131$           30,140$            554,675$           1,569,173$        

Additions 64,690              162,429            50,834              74,561              51,552              84,136              488,202            

Depreciation (16,267)             (71,872)             (20,526)             (140,345)           (10,240)             (80,599)             (339,849)           

Carrying amount at September 30, 2015 54,480$            253,648$           110,387$           669,347$           71,452$            558,212$           1,717,526$        

Balance at September 30, 2015 comprised of:

Cost 70,176$            462,351$           210,268$           1,859,797$        196,071$           1,036,080$        3,834,743$        

Accumulated depreciation (15,696)             (208,703)           (99,881)             (1,190,450)        (124,619)           (477,868)           (2,117,217)        

Carrying amount 54,480$            253,648$           110,387$           669,347$           71,452$            558,212$           1,717,526$        

Carrying amount at September 30, 2015 54,480$          253,648$        110,387$        669,347$        71,452$          558,212$        1,717,526$     

Additions from business combination (Note 12) 20,553            5,975              2,440              18,613            -                      -                      47,581            

Additions 3,927              104,175          75,116            77,947            850                 342,390          604,405          

Depreciation (17,380)           (79,478)           (25,092)           (130,866)         (18,894)           (99,286)           (370,996)         

Carrying amount at September 30, 2016 61,580$          284,320$        162,851$        635,041$        53,408$          801,316$        1,998,516$     

Balance at September 30, 2016 comprised of:

Cost 104,845$        575,850$        288,628$        1,968,338$     196,921$        1,378,471$     4,513,053$     

Accumulated depreciation (43,265)           (291,530)         (125,777)         (1,333,297)      (143,513)         (577,155)         (2,514,537)      

Carrying amount 61,580$          284,320$        162,851$        635,041$        53,408$          801,316$        1,998,516$     



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 
 

19 
 

8. Credit facilities 
 
 The Corporation has the following credit facilities, as amended on January 26, 2016, (the 

“Credit Facilities”) with a large Canadian financial institution (the “Bank”): 
  

(a) Overdraft Facility 
 
The Overdraft Facility is a demand revolving loan of up to $600,000 bearing interest at 
the bank’s prime rate plus 1.50% per annum and margined by trade receivables and 
certain equipment of the Corporation. 

At September 30, 2016 and 2015, no amounts were drawn under this facility. 
 

(b) Export Loan Facility  
 

The Export Loan Facility is comprised of a manufacturer’s advance facility in the form of 
a demand revolving line of U.S. $2,500,000 ($3,279,000 in Canadian dollars) 
(“Operating Loan Facility”) and a trade invoice non-recourse financing facility in the 
form of a demand revolving line of U.S. $7,920,000 ($10,389,000 in Canadian dollars) 
(“Securitization Facility”). 

 
Operating Loan Facility 

Under the Operating Loan Facility, the Corporation may finance up to 60% of customer 
purchase orders approved by the Bank. The Operating Loan Facility bears interest at 
the U.S. dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (“USD LIBOR”) plus 4.00% per annum 
and is payable on demand or within 160 days of funding (see Note 9). 

 
Securitization Facility 

Under the Securitization Facility, the Corporation may sell to the Bank select insured 
trade receivables net of a discount fee of USD LIBOR plus 3.50% (see Note 10). 

 
(c) Foreign Exchange Loan Facility  

  
The Foreign Exchange Loan Facility is a demand revolving line of U.S. $1,440,000 
($1,889,000 in Canadian dollars) for the purchase of foreign exchange forward 
contracts and options up to an aggregate of U.S. $8,000,000 ($10,494,000 in Canadian 
dollars), with a maximum maturity of 12 months (see Note 21(b)(i)b)).  

  
 The Credit Facilities are governed and secured by a general security agreement creating a first 

priority security interest in all property of the Corporation. The conditions of credit include 
compliance with various covenants.  At September 30, 2016, all financial ratios and tests have 
been met. 
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9. Operating loans 
  
 For the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Corporation obtained the following 

proceeds in U.S. dollars from operating loans and made the following repayments in U.S. dollars 
using proceeds from the sale of select trade receivables under its Securitization Facility: 

 

 
  
 
10. Finance receivables and securitization debt 
  
 The carrying amounts of finance receivables are comprised of U.S. dollar denominated trade 

receivables, which have been sold to a large Canadian financial institution (the “Bank”), net of a 
retainer, representing the portion of the proceeds retained by the Bank to reduce their exposure 
to potential credit losses. The finance receivables are due to the Bank on or before the 
December 19, 2016 at which time the securitization debt is extinguished and the retainer is 
remitted to the Corporation. 

   
   
  
 At September 30, 2015, the Corporation had no finance receivables or securitization debt. 
 
 Upon completion of the sale, the finance receivables are not derecognized since the Corporation 

does not transfer substantially all risks and rewards relevant to the sale of the finance 
receivables. The servicing of the finance receivables remains the responsibility of the 
Corporation and the Bank retains the right of recourse against the Corporation if any finance 
receivable is not collected by the Bank on its due date. Any finance receivable not collected by 
the Bank on its due date is subject to payment upon demand to the Bank at the Bank’s U.S. 
dollar annual prime rate plus 3.00% per annum payable monthly in arrears. 

  
 

U.S. dollars Canadian dollars

Balance at September 30, 2014 700,000                  784,560                

Proceeds from operating loans 1,495,800               1,698,614             

Repayment of operating loans (700,000)                 (789,740)               

Repayment using proceeds from securitization debt (1,495,800)              (1,867,777)            

Net realized foreign exchange loss on repayment -                            174,343                

Balance at September 30, 2015 -                            -                            

Proceeds from operating loans 4,198,680               5,485,212             

Repayment using proceeds from securitization debt (1,729,800)              (2,247,183)            

Net realized foreign exchange gain on repayment -                            (35,762)                 

Unrealized foreign exchange loss on balance due -                            36,163                  

Balance at September 30, 2016 2,468,880               3,238,430             

Carrying Amounts

U.S. dollars Canadian dollars

Finance receivables 2,840,400                3,725,753              

Less: Retainer (201,600)                 (264,439)               

Securitization debt 2,638,800                3,461,314              

September 30, 2016
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11. Related party transactions 
 
 Pursuant to the private placement described in Note 14, the Corporation became affiliated with 

various entities controlled by Saudi FAS Holding Company (the “Affiliates”), which are also 
customers of the Corporation. The Corporation recorded the following sales in U.S. dollars to the 
Affiliates: 

  
 
 The Corporation’s trade receivables include the following amounts denominated in U.S. dollars 

that are due from the Affiliates: 

   
  
  
12. Business combination 
 
 On June 1, 2016, the Corporation acquired all of the issued and outstanding shares of IREC 

Corporation (“IREC”) for an aggregate purchase price of $197,000 payable in cash.  Prior to this 
transaction, IREC was controlled by a party related to the President & CEO of the Corporation. 
IREC is a private company based in the Philippines and carries on the business of manufacturing 
various components for children’s playground equipment. 

 The fair value of the identifiable assets acquired and liabilities assumed at June 1, 2016 are as 
follows: 

 

 
 
 From June 1, 2016 to September 30, 2016, IREC had operating expenses of $84,015 and sales 

of $5,198 to external customers. IREC supplies IPC and IREC’s operations are funded by IPC. 
IREC’s operating activities are included in the Corporation’s manufacturing business segment. 

 

2016 2015

Sales in U.S. dollars 5,876,516$   6,467,352$     

Equivalent in Canadian dollars 7,778,083     8,010,735       

Years ended September 30, 

2016 2015

Balance in U.S. dollars 6,659,740$   4,641,192$     

Equivalent in Canadian dollars 8,735,580     6,216,413       

September 30, 

Assets acquired

Cash 24,200$                

Inventories 126,555                

Prepaid expenses and deposits 25,454                  

Equipment 47,581                  

Total assets acquired 223,790                

Liabilities assumed

Trade payables, accrued charges and other 26,790                  

Total liabilities assumed 26,790                  

Net assets acquired 197,000$              
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13. Trade payables, accrued charges and other 

  
 
 
14. Share capital 
 

(a) Private placement 
  
 On November 19, 2014, the Corporation completed a non-brokered private placement, with 

Saudi FAS Holding Company and its wholly-owned British Columbia subsidiary, FAS 
Entertainment B.C. Ltd., (collectively “FAS”) pursuant to which FAS purchased 10,650,000 
units of the Corporation (the “Units”) at a purchase price of $0.83 per Unit for gross 
proceeds to the Corporation of $8,839,500. Each Unit consists of one common share of the 
Corporation and one tenth of a share purchase warrant, with each whole warrant being 
exercisable until October 1, 2016 to acquire one additional common share at a price of 
$0.85 per common share. As described in Note 23, on October 1, 2016, the share purchase 
warrants expired unexercised. 

 
 Total net proceeds of $8,552,598 from the private placement is comprised of gross proceeds 

of $8,839,500 less share issuance costs of $286,902 net of tax, and has been allocated to 
share capital and the warrants reserve based on the relative fair values of the common 
shares and the warrants. The grant date fair value of the warrants amounts to $681,748 and 
was determined by using a Black-Scholes pricing model with the following input 
assumptions: expected life of 1.9 years; risk-free interest rate of 1.4%; expected volatility 
of 92.0%; and expected dividend yield of nil. 

 
(b)  Basic and diluted net income per common share 

 
For the year ended September 30, 2016, there is no potential dilution of common shares. 
 

  
  

 
  

2016 2015

Trade payables 1,280,792$  1,055,874$    

Accrued charges 981,218       1,007,246      

Foreign exchange financial derivative 60,716         -                   

Warranty provision 27,884         13,615          

2,350,610$  2,076,735$    

September 30,

Net income

Weighted 
average number 

of common 
shares

Net income per 
common share

Basic net income per common share 517,062$         19,436,533      0.03$              

Effect of dilutive share purchase warrants -                     921,635           -                     

Diluted net income per common share 517,062$         20,358,168      0.03$              

Year ended September 30, 2015
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15. Share options 
 
 The Corporation has an incentive share option plan (the “Option Plan”).  Under the terms of this 

Option Plan, the Board of Directors may grant incentive share options to directors and 
employees of the Corporation, and the exercise price is generally determined by reference to 
the market price of the Corporation’s shares on the grant date.  Vesting and expiry of options 
may vary at the discretion of the Corporation’s Compensation Committee, subject to the rules of 
the stock exchange.  The contractual life of the options is generally for one year.  The total 
number of shares issuable pursuant to the Option Plan cannot exceed 10% of the issued and 
outstanding shares.   

 
 The maximum number of share options available to be granted under the Option Plan as at 

September 30, 2016 and 2015 is 2,087,018.  
 
 There are no share options outstanding at September 30, 2016 and 2015. 
 
 
16. Sales contracts 
 
 The Corporation recorded the following sales and related direct costs, receivables, deposits and 

deferred revenue from fixed-priced sales contracts recognized using the percentage of 
completion basis of accounting in accordance with the revenue recognition policies described in 
Notes 3 and 4: 

 
 
 
17. Cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses  

  

2016 2015

Sales 7,549,686$   8,237,154$     

Direct costs incurred 4,439,698     4,432,571       

3,109,988$   3,804,583$     

2016 2015

6,009,680$   4,863,865$     

Customer deposits and deferred revenue 159,738        343,555          

Unbilled receivables

Years ended September 30, 

September 30, 

Years ended September 30,

2016 2015

Cost of materials 5,829,119$      4,681,431$        

Shipping, installation and other 3,593,101        3,676,153          

Short-term employee benefits 2,534,936        2,366,898          

Post-employment benefits 19,799             26,561              

Depreciation 149,877           125,283             

Total cost of sales 12,126,832$    10,876,326$      
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17. Cost of sales and selling and administrative expenses (continued) 
 

  
   
  
 Selling and administrative expenses include the following compensation paid to executive 

management personnel, comprised of the Corporation’s President & Chief Executive Officer, 
Chief Financial Officer, and Chief Operating Officer: 

  
 
 
18. Commitments 
 
 The Corporation leases premises and certain equipment under long-term operating lease 

agreements that expire at various dates to September 30, 2021. At September 30, 2016, the 
future minimum lease payments, including estimated occupancy costs, are as follows: 

 

   
  

Years ended September 30,

2016 2015

Short-term employee benefits 2,426,597$      2,803,144$        

Post-employment benefits 68,549             49,485              

Marketing, advertising and related expenditures 602,906           495,002             

Travel and related expenditures 387,415           271,449             

Rent, utilities, telecom and occupancy costs 1,303,526        1,081,366          

Professional fees and insurance costs 801,256           879,724             

Depreciation 221,119           214,566             

Bank charges and bad debts 74,432             86,211              

Total selling and administrative expenses 5,885,800$      5,880,947$        

Years ended September 30,

2016 2015

Short-term employee benefits 636,857$         714,516$           

Post-employment benefits 32,000             25,167              

Severance paid to former Chief Executive Officer -                      581,186             

668,857$         1,320,869$        

September 30, 
2016

Due within 1 year 1,126,281$        

Between 1 year and 5 years 3,632,186          

4,758,467$        
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18. Commitments (continued) 
 
For the year ended September 30, 2016, selling and administrative expenses include operating 
lease costs of $911,757 (September 30, 2015 - $803,326). 

  
 At September 30, 2016 and 2015, rent inducements consist of rent abatement periods and 

escalating rent from various operating leases for office and warehouse space. 
 
 
19. Income taxes 
 
 The approximate tax effect of temporary differences for income tax purposes that gives rise to 

the Corporation’s deferred income tax assets and liabilities is as follows: 
 

 
  

2016 2015

63,369$         (52,401)$          
Deferred income tax asset from share 
issuance costs -                     100,804           

Deferred income tax provision (43,331)          14,966             

20,038$         63,369$           

81,983$         90,840$           

Share issuance costs 63,655           83,349             

145,638         174,189           

Equipment (125,600)        (110,820)          

20,038$         63,369$           

Aggregation by taxable entity:

Deferred income tax assets 97,513$         150,393$          

Deferred income tax liabilities (77,475)          (87,024)            

20,038$         63,369$           

September 30,

Net deferred income tax assets 
(liabilities) at beginning of the year

Net deferred income tax assets at 
end of the year

Net deferred income tax assets at 
end of the year

Components of deferred income tax assets:

Component of deferred income tax liabilities:

Timing differences on rent inducement and various 
accrued expenses

Net deferred income tax assets at 
end of the year
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19. Income taxes (continued) 
   

 The future benefit of the deductible temporary differences, that gives rise to the deferred 
income tax assets, has been recognized in these Consolidated Financial Statements as 
management estimates that it is probable the future income tax benefit will be utilized. 

 
 At September 30, 2016 and 2015, the Corporation has capital losses carried forward for income 

tax purposes of $51,750 for which no benefit was recognized. Future benefits, if any, will be 
restricted to one half of enacted rates and will be recognized when realized. 

 
 The Corporation’s effective income tax rate differs from the combined Canadian federal and 

provincial statutory income tax rate for manufacturing and processing companies. The principal 
factors causing the difference are as follows: 

 
 
 
20. Capital management 
 
 The Corporation’s capital is comprised of operating loans, securitization debt and shareholders’ 

equity as follows: 

  
  
  

2016 2015

Income (loss) before income taxes (1,323,695)$   711,681$          

26.00% 26.00%

Expected income tax expense (344,161)$      185,037$          

(33,505)          -                      

Non-deductible expenses and other 9,122             9,582               

(368,544)$      194,619$          

Effective income tax rate 27.84% 27.35%

Allocation of income tax provision:

Current (411,875)$      209,585$          

Deferred 43,331           (14,966)            

(368,544)$      194,619$          

Years ended September 30,

Effect of income tax recoveries in foreign jurisdictions

Income tax provision

Combined Canadian and provincial 
statutory income tax rate

2016 2015

Operating loans 3,238,430$      -     $                

Securitization debt 3,461,314        -                       

Shareholders' equity 12,430,517      13,385,668        

19,130,261$    13,385,668$      

September 30,
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20. Capital management (continued) 
 
 The Corporation’s objective, when managing capital, is to maintain sufficient liquidity for normal 

operating and capital expenditures, while maintaining an adequate return for shareholders. 
  
 The Corporation funds its working capital requirements in part with cash and cash equivalents, 

and available credit facilities described in Note 8, which include an overdraft facility of 
$600,000, an operating loan facility of U.S. $2,500,000 ($3,279,000 in Canadian dollars), and a 
securitization facility of U.S. $7,920,000 ($10,389,000 in Canadian dollars). The credit facilities 
are subject to annual renewals. 

 
 The Corporation chooses securitization as part of its capital strategy to limit its credit risk when 

offering extended credit terms to certain customers with larger orders. Although the servicing of 
finance receivables remains the responsibility of the Corporation, securitization debt is non-
recourse to the Corporation and the retainer of 10% represents the Corporation’s maximum 
exposure to impaired finance receivables. 

 
 The Corporation’s debt is subject to a number of covenants and restrictions including the 

requirement to meet certain financial ratios and financial condition tests. At September 30, 
2016, all financial ratios and tests have been met. 

  
 The Corporation manages its capital structure to maintain the flexibility to adjust to changes in 

economic conditions and to respond to interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, and other market 
risks. 

 
 In management’s opinion, the Corporation’s capital and ongoing cash flows from operations are 

sufficient to fund its anticipated contractual obligations, future operations, and capital 
expenditures. 

 
 
21. Financial instruments and risk management 
 

(a) Classification of financial instruments and fair value 
 

The following table summarizes information relating to the Corporation’s financial instruments: 
 

   
 

The carrying values of cash and cash equivalents, finance receivables, trade and other 
receivables, and trade payables and accrued charges approximate their respective fair values 
due to their short-term maturities.   

Class of Financial 
Instruments

Categories in 
Consolidated Statements 
of Financial Position

 September 30, 
2016 

 September 30, 
2015 

Loans and receivables 
financial assets measured 
at amortized cost

Cash and cash equivalents, 
finance receivables, and 
trade and other receivables 18,209,538      11,820,175        

Financial liabilities 
measured at amortized 
cost

Operating loans, 
securitization debt, trade 
payables and accrued 
charges 9,022,469        2,063,120          

Carrying Amounts   
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21. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

(a) Classification of financial instruments and fair value (continued) 
 
The operating loans and securitization debt bear interest at variable rates and their carrying 
values approximate their fair values. 
 
Fair value measurements recognized in the statements of financial position must be 
categorized in accordance with the following levels: 
 
(i) Level 1 – Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets and 

liabilities; 
 

(ii) Level 2 – Inputs other than quoted prices included in Level 1 that are observable for 
the asset or liability directly (as prices) or indirectly (derived from prices); and 

 
(iii) Level 3 – Inputs that are not based on observable market data (involves assumptions 

and estimates by management of how market participants would price the asset or 
liability). 

 
At September 30, 2016 and 2015, all of the Corporation’s financial assets and liabilities were 
measured at amortized cost, except for the foreign exchange financial derivative liability at 
September 30, 2016, which fair value is determined by quoted prices categorized in Level 1. 

 
(b) Risks and risk management 

 
Financial instruments may expose the Corporation to a number of financial risks, including 
market risk (interest rate risk and currency risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Corporation’s 
overall risk management program seeks to mitigate these risks and reduce the volatility that 
may otherwise affect its financial performance. 
 
The risks associated with the Corporation’s financial instruments and the Corporation’s policies 
for minimizing these risks are detailed below. 

 
(i) Market risk  

 
a) Interest rate risk 

 
Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or the 
future cash flows associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market 
interest rates.  The Corporation’s interest rate risk arises primarily from its operating 
loans and securitization debt, which are subject to variable interest rates. 
 
The Corporation manages interest rate risk on its debt portfolio by controlling the mix of 
liabilities with fixed and variable interest rate obligations and attempting to ensure access 
to diverse sources of funding.  
 
At September 30, 2016, a sensitivity analysis was performed assuming the Corporation’s 
borrowing interest rates change by 2%, or 200 basis points.  For every increase of 2% to 
the Corporation’s borrowing interest rate, with all other variables held constant, the net 
loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2016 would increase 
by approximately $45,000. A decrease in interest rates would have the opposite effect. At 
September 30, 2015, the Corporation had no fixed or variable interest rate obligations 
outstanding. 
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21. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Risks and risk management (continued) 
 

(i) Market risk (continued) 
 

b) Currency risk 
 

Currency risk refers to the risk that the value of a financial instrument or cash flows 
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in foreign currency exchange 
rates. 

 
The Corporation has sales denominated in U.S. dollars which exceed the natural hedge 
provided by the purchase of products denominated in U.S. dollars, and therefore exposes 
the Corporation to financial risk resulting from fluctuations in foreign exchange rates and 
the degree of volatility of these rates. The Corporation manages this risk by entering into 
foreign exchange forward contracts. 

 
During the year ended September 30, 2016, the Corporation recorded a net foreign 
exchange gain of $54,107 on its foreign exchange forward contracts (September 30, 
2015 – net loss of $15,266). 
 
At September 30, 2016, the Corporation has various foreign exchange forward contracts 
outstanding with maturity dates from November 28, 2016 to September 29, 2017 and a 
total commitment to sell $6,000,000 U.S. dollars and purchase $7,797,318 Canadian 
dollars at exchange rates ranging from $1.29217 to $1.30906. The mark-to-market fair 
value of the foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at September 30, 2016 
represents a liability of $60,716 for the Corporation and is recorded as an unrealized 
foreign exchange loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive 
income (loss). There were no foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at 
September 30, 2015. 
 
A sensitivity analysis has been performed assuming the foreign exchange rate changes 
by 5% at September 30, 2016 and 2015.  For every 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar 
against the Canadian dollar, with all other variables held constant, the net loss and total 
comprehensive loss for the year ended September 30, 2016 would decrease by 
approximately $406,000 (September 30, 2015 – net income and total comprehensive 
income would increase by approximately $330,000). A weakening of the U.S. dollar 
against the Canadian dollar would have the opposite effect. The increase in sensitivity to 
foreign exchange rate changes between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar is due to 
an increase in the Corporation’s net assets denominated in U.S. dollars from U.S. 
$4,931,925 ($6,605,821 in Canadian dollars) at September 30, 2015 to U.S. $6,190,298 
($8,119,814 in Canadian dollars) at September 30, 2016. 
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21. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Risks and risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk  
 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial 
instrument fails to meet its contractual obligations.  The carrying amounts of cash and 
cash equivalents, trade and finance receivables recorded in the consolidated statements 
of financial position represent the Corporation’s maximum exposure to credit risk. 
 
The credit risk associated with the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents is limited 
because these financial assets are held through large financial institutions with high 
investment grade ratings. 

 
The Corporation performs ongoing credit evaluations of its customers and purchases third 
party insurance on trade receivables from customers with larger orders. 

 
At September 30, 2016, trade receivables from entities affiliated with the Corporation 
amount to $8,735,580 (September 30, 2015 - $6,216,413) and represent approximately 
93% of the balance of trade receivables (September 30, 2015 – 90%). At September 30, 
2016, past due trade receivables from entities affiliated with the Corporation amount to 
$551,455 (September 30, 2015 - $1,328,638). It is the opinion of management that the 
trade receivables from the affiliates do not represent a significant credit risk.  
 
The following table provides the aging of trade receivables: 

  
 
 

  

2016 2015

Trade receivables

Current 2,204,067$      311,317$           

31 to 60 days 538,448           1,260,462          

61 to 90 days 13,092             34,220               

91 days + 605,971           451,605             

3,361,578        2,057,604          

6,009,680        4,863,865          

Other receivables 21,019             46,745               

Allowance for doubtful accounts (17,518)            (95,063)              

9,374,759$      6,873,151$         

Unbilled receivables from sales arrangments 
recognized on a percentage of completion basis of 
accounting

September 30,
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21. Financial instruments and risk management (continued) 
 

(b) Risks and risk management (continued) 
 

(ii) Credit risk (continued) 
 

The following table reflects the movement in the allowance for doubtful accounts: 
  

 
 

 
(ii) Liquidity risk 
 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial 
obligations as they fall due. 
 
The Corporation manages its liquidity risk through maintaining cash and access to 
credit facilities, and adheres to its capital management policies outlined in Note 20. 
 
The following table provides a summary of the Corporation’s contractual obligations at 
September 30, 2016: 

  
  

 
  

2016 2015

Balance at beginning of the year 95,063$           55,515$             

Write-offs (48,405)            (40,962)              

Increase (decrease) in allowance (29,140)            80,510               

Balance at end of the year 17,518$           95,063$             

September 30,

Payments due by period

Total
Within 
1 year

1-3 
years

4-5 
years

After 
5 years

Operating loans, 
including interest 3,308,098$    3,308,098      -$                 -$                 -$                 

Securitization debt, 
including interest 3,533,469      3,533,469      -                   -                   -                   

Trade payables, accrued 
charges and other 2,350,610      2,350,610      -                   -                   -                   

Operating leases 4,758,467      1,126,281      3,302,917      329,269        -                   

13,950,644$  10,318,458$  3,302,917$    329,269$       -$                 
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22. Segment reporting and concentration of sales 
 

(a) Business segments 
 

 The Corporation operates in two business segments: (i) Manufacturing of play structures for 
children; and (ii) Operating a Family Entertainment Centre. 

 
 The accounting policies of these two business segments are the same as those described in 

Note 3.  Inter-segment balances, transactions and revenues and expenses are eliminated 
upon consolidation.  

 
 Information related to these two business segments’ operations is as follows: 

 

  
 
 
 

  

Year ended September 30, 2016

Manufacturing

Family 
Entertainment 

Centre Total
Sales to external customers 15,715,628$      1,308,286$        17,023,914$      
Cost of sales 11,342,409        784,423             12,126,832        
Gross profit 4,373,219          523,863             4,897,082          

Selling and administrative expenses 5,289,761          596,039             5,885,800          
Foreign exchange loss 220,262             -                         220,262             
Finance costs 114,715             -                         114,715             
Income taxes (349,778)            (18,766)              (368,544)            

Net loss (901,741)$          (53,410)$            (955,151)$          

Total assets 22,698,479$      835,884$           23,534,363$      

Total liabilities 10,893,443$      210,403$           11,103,846$      

Depreciation expense 235,409$           135,587$           370,996$           

Purchase of equipment 584,567$           19,838$             604,405$           



Iplayco Corporation Ltd. 
Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements 
September 30, 2016 and 2015 
(Expressed in Canadian dollars)  
 
 

33 
 

22. Segment reporting and concentration of sales (continued) 
 

(a)  Business segments (continued) 

   
 

  
(b) Geographic and customer information 

  
 Substantially all of the Corporation’s assets are located in Canada.   

 
 The Corporation attributes sales amounts to geographical areas based on where the 

customer is located.  Information related to geographical areas is as follows: 

   
 

 For the year ended September 30, 2016, sales to significant customers, all affiliates of the 
Corporation described in Note 11, and all from the manufacturing business segment, 
amounted to $7,778,083 (2015 – $8,010,735). 

 
 
23. Subsequent event 
  
 On October 1, 2016, the share purchase warrants, issued as part of the private placement 

described in Note 14, to acquire 1,065,000 additional common shares of the Corporation at a 
price of $0.85 per common share, expired unexercised. 

Year ended September 30, 2015

Manufacturing

Family 
Entertainment 

Centre Total
Sales to external customers 15,950,637$         1,252,351$           17,202,988$         
Cost of sales 10,132,271           744,055               10,876,326           
Gross profit 5,818,366            508,296               6,326,662            

Selling and administrative expenses 5,291,928            589,019               5,880,947            
Foreign exchange gain (586,025)              -                         (586,025)              
Finance costs 320,059               -                         320,059               
Income taxes 214,396               (19,777)                194,619               

Net income (loss) 578,008$             (60,946)$              517,062$             

Total assets 15,409,637$         1,252,431$           16,662,068$         

Total liabilities 3,071,594$           204,806$             3,276,400$           

Depreciation expense 201,732$             138,117$             339,849$             

Purchase of equipment 419,242$             68,960$               488,202$             

Years ended September 30,

2016 2015

Sales

Canada 3,324,511$     2,705,346$       

Americas 8,775,983       10,252,177       

Other 4,923,420       4,245,465         

17,023,914$   17,202,988$     
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Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
This discussion and analysis of financial condition and results of operations (“MD&A”) of Iplayco 
Corporation Ltd. (“Iplayco”, “the Corporation”, “we”, “us”, or “our”) is prepared as of December 7, 
2016 and should be read together in conjunction with our annual audited consolidated financial 
statements and accompanying notes for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015.  

The results reported herein are presented in Canadian dollars, unless otherwise stated, and have been 
prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards (“IFRS”). 

We have prepared this MD&A with reference to National Instrument 51-102 “Continuous Disclosure 
Obligations” of the Canadian Securities Administrators. 

Certain statements in this MD&A constitute forward-looking statements or forward-looking information 
within the meaning of applicable securities laws. You should carefully read the cautionary note in this 
MD&A regarding forward looking statements and should not place undue reliance on any such forward 
looking statements. See “Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements”. 

Additional information about Iplayco, including our Management Proxy Circular, are filed with 
Canadian securities regulatory authorities on SEDAR at www.sedar.com and are also available on our 
website at www.iplaycoltd.com. 

Overview 

Iplayco is incorporated under the Alberta Business Corporations Act and its common shares trade on 
the TSX Venture Exchange under the trading symbol “IPC”. Iplayco’s business is carried out through 
its wholly owned subsidiaries Iplayco Inc., Iplayco Canada Inc., International Play Company Inc., 
Outdoor Play Company Inc., and IREC Corporation. Iplayco operates in two business segments: (i) 
Manufacturing of play structures for children, from its production plants in Langley, British Columbia, 
Canada and Subic Bay, Philippines (“Manufacturing” or “MFG”); and (ii) Operating a family 
entertainment centre in Langley, British Columbia, Canada (“Family Entertainment Centre” or “FEC”). 

On November 19, 2014, the Corporation completed a non-brokered private placement, with Saudi FAS 
Holding Company and its wholly-owned British Columbia subsidiary, FAS Entertainment B.C. Ltd., 
(collectively “FAS”) pursuant to which FAS purchased 10,650,000 units of the Corporation (the 
“Units”) at a purchase price of $0.83 per Unit for gross proceeds to the Corporation of $8,839,500. 
Each Unit consists of one common share of the Corporation and one tenth of a share purchase 
warrant, with each whole warrant being exercisable until October 1, 2016 to acquire one additional 
common share at a price of $0.85 per common share. On October 1, 2016, the share purchase 
warrants expired unexercised. FAS owns 51.03% of Iplayco’s issued and outstanding common shares.  

FAS is a private company incorporated pursuant to the laws of the Kingdom of Saudi Arabia. All of the 
outstanding securities of FAS are beneficially held by three individuals. FAS controls various entities 
that own and operate Billy Beez family entertainment centres, Iplayco’s largest customer over the past 
four years. FAS also controls Fawaz Abdulaziz Al Hokair & Co., a retail conglomerate listed on the 
Saudi stock exchange (Tadawul), with a market capitalization at September 30, 2016 of approximately 
7 billion Saudi Riyal (or approximately $2.5 billion in Canadian dollars). Through various controlled 
entities, FAS is planning to expand Billy Beez family entertainment centres in the Middle East and 
North America. With its private placement, FAS has invested in Iplayco to secure supply of play 
structures for its Billy Beez expansion. In addition to supplying Billy Beez, Iplayco will continue to 
service and grow its existing customer base. For more information on FAS, please visit the company’s 
website at: www.fawazalhokair.com.  
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Consolidated Results 

Sales for the three months ended September 30, 2016 (“Q4-16”) increased by 4.7% to $5,488,474 
from $5,244,429 for the three months ended September 30, 2015 (“Q4-15”). Gross profit percentage 
decreased to 19.3% of sales in Q4-16 from 34.2% in Q4-15. Operating expenses, including foreign 
exchange gains and losses and finance costs, increased to $1,589,871, or 29.0% of sales, in Q4-16 
from $1,517,643, or 28.9% of sales, in Q4-15. Net loss amounted to $345,782, or net loss per share 
of $0.02, in Q4-16 as compared to net income of $216,409, or diluted net income per share of $0.01, 
in Q4-15. 

Sales for the year ended September 30, 2016 (“2016”) decreased by 1.0% to $17,023,914 from 
$17,202,988 for the year ended September 30, 2015 (“2015”). Gross profit percentage decreased to 
28.8% of sales in 2016 from 36.8% in 2015. Operating expenses, including foreign exchange gains 
and losses and finance costs, increased to $6,220,777 or 36.5% of sales in 2016 from $5,614,981 or 
32.6% of sales in 2015. The net loss amounted to $955,151, or net loss per share of $0.05, in 2016 
as compared to net income of $517,062, or diluted net income per share of $0.03, in 2015. 

Manufacturing Operations 

Sales generated by our Manufacturing operations increased by 4.9% to $5,194,013 in Q4-16 from 
$4,949,115 in Q4-15. This increase is due to higher sales to our customers located outside of the 
Americas, who accounted for sales of $3,364,198 (or 64.8% of total Manufacturing sales) in Q4-16 
compared to $778,883, (or 15.7%) in Q4-15, partially offset by lower sales to our customers located 
in the Americas, including Canada, who accounted for sales of $1,829,815 (or 35.2% of total 
Manufacturing sales) in Q4-16 compared to $4,170,232 (or 84.3%) in Q4-15. 

Sales generated by our Manufacturing operations decreased by 1.5% to $15,715,628 in 2016 from 
$15,950,637 in 2015. This decrease is due primarily to lower sales to our customers located in the 
Americas, including Canada, who accounted for sales of $10,792,208 (or 68.7%) in 2016 compared to 
$11,705,172 (or 73.4%) in 2015, partially offset by higher sales to our customers located outside of 
the Americas, who accounted for sales of $4,923,420 (or 31.3% of total Manufacturing sales) in 2016 
compared to $4,245,465 (or 26.6%) in 2015. 

Sales to related party, Billy Beez, accounted for 70.2% of sales by our Manufacturing operations in 
Q4-16 (49.5% in 2016) as compared to 60.9% in Q4-15 (50.2% in 2015). Should Billy Beez end their 
relationship with us, reduce or postpone current or expected purchase orders or suffer from business 
failure, our sales and profitability would decline materially. We expect continued business 
concentration from Billy Beez for the foreseeable future.  

We expected sales generated by our Manufacturing operations in Q4-16 to increase significantly as 
compared to sales for the three months ended June 30, 2016 (“Q3-16”).  Sales generated by our 
Manufacturing operations increased by 19.4% to $5,194,013 in Q4-16 from $4,349,998 in Q3-16. 
Based on our updated sales forecast, we are expecting sales generated by our Manufacturing 
operations for the three months ending December 31, 2016 (“Q1-17”) to decrease moderately as 
compared to Q4-16. 

Gross profit percentage decreased to 18.2% of sales by our Manufacturing operations in Q4-16 from 
33.5% in Q4-15.  We expected our gross profit percentage to increase significantly in Q4-16 as 
compared to Q3-16. Gross profit percentage decreased to 18.2% of sales by our Manufacturing 
operations in Q4-16 from 31.7% in Q3-16 due primarily to the combined effect of significant cost 
overruns on fixed-priced sales contracts and integration costs from the acquisition of IREC 
Corporation. Based on our updated sales-mix forecast, we are expecting gross profit percentage from 
our Manufacturing operations to increase significantly in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16 due primarily to 
significant manufacturing costs which we do not anticipate reoccurring in 2017. 

Gross profit percentage decreased to 27.8% of sales by our Manufacturing operations in 2016 from 
36.5% in 2015 due primarily to significantly lower margins in Q4-16. 
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Our Manufacturing operations generated a net loss of $326,869 in Q4-16 compared to net income of 
$227,644 in Q4-15. We expected the net operating results from our Manufacturing operations to 
improve significantly in Q4-16 as compared to Q3-16. Our Manufacturing operations generated a net 
loss of $326,869 in Q4-16 compared to net income of $148,750 in Q3-16 due primarily to the 
combined effect of significant cost overruns on fixed-priced sales contracts, integration costs with 
IREC Corporation, and a foreign exchange loss of $30,114 in Q4-16 as compared to a foreign 
exchange gain of $166,555 in Q3-16.  
 
We are expecting the net operating results from our Manufacturing operations to improve significantly 
in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16 due primarily to higher anticipated gross profit margins. 
 
Our Manufacturing operations generated a net loss of $901,741 in 2016 compared to net income of 
$578,008 in 2015 due to the combined effect of significantly lower gross profit margins in 2016 as 
compared to 2015 and a foreign exchange loss of $114,715 in 2016 as compared to a foreign 
exchange gain of $586,025 in 2015. 

Family Entertainment Centre Operations 

Sales generated by our FEC operations decreased by 0.3% to $294,461 in Q4-16 from $295,314 in 
Q4-15. We expected sales generated by our FEC operations to increase moderately in Q4-16 as 
compared to Q3-16. Sales generated by our FEC operations increased by 12.2% to $294,461 in Q4-16 
from $262,439 in Q3-16. Based on our updated sales forecast, we are expecting sales generated by 
our FEC operations to increase moderately in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16, due primarily to 
seasonality resulting in an expected increase in the number of customer visits. 

Sales generated by our FEC operations increased by 4.5% to $1,308,286 in 2016 from $1,252,351 in 
2015 due primarily to pricing increases for admissions and food. 

Our FEC operations generated a net loss of $18,913 in Q4-16 compared to $11,235 in Q4-15. We 
expected the net operating results from our FEC operations to improve moderately in Q4-16 as 
compared to Q3-16. Our FEC operations generated a net loss of $18,913 in Q4-16 as compared to 
$50,140 in Q3-16. Based on our updated forecasts, we are expecting the net operating results from 
our FEC operations to improve moderately in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16, due primarily to higher 
anticipated sales. 

Our FEC operations generated a net loss of $53,410 in 2016, compared to a net loss of $60,946 in 
2015. The lower loss is due primarily to higher sales in 2016 as compared to 2015. 

The net operating results from our FEC operations will continue to fluctuate from quarter to quarter 
based on seasonality factors, such as weather conditions and school holidays. Seasonality trends have 
developed in sales and net operating results, with Q2 historically generating the strongest operating 
results, due primarily to a higher number of customer visits during the winter months.  Conversely, 
our Q4 operating results have historically been the weakest due to a lower number of customer visits 
during the summer months. 
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Results of Operations 

The following tables set forth the operating results of our Manufacturing and our FEC business 
segments for the three months and years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015, expressed as a 
percentage of total sales: 

 
 
 
Our sales by business segment, and geographical region, are as follows: 
 

  
 

 MFG  FEC  Total  MFG  FEC  Total 

Sales to external customers 94.6    % 5.4      % 100.0 % 94.4      % 5.6        % 100.0    %

Cost of sales 77.5    3.2      80.7    62.8      3.0        65.8      

Gross profit 17.1    2.2      19.3    31.6      2.6        34.2      

Selling and administrative expenses 24.4    2.7      27.1    33.2      2.9        36.1      

Foreign exchange gain 0.5      -        0.5      (6.7)       -          (6.7)       
Finance costs 1.4      -        1.4      (0.4)       -          (0.4)       
Income taxes (3.1)    (0.2)    (3.3)    1.2        (0.1)       1.1        

Net income (loss) (6.1)    % (0.3)    % (6.4)    % 4.3        % (0.2)       % 4.1        %

 MFG  FEC  Total  MFG  FEC  Total 

Sales to external customers 92.3    % 7.7      % 100.0 % 92.7      % 7.3        % 100.0    %

Cost of sales 66.6    4.6      71.2    58.9      4.3        63.2      

Gross profit 25.7    3.1      28.8    33.8      3.0        36.8      

Selling and administrative expenses 31.1    3.5      34.6    30.8      3.4        34.2      

Foreign exchange loss (gain) 1.3      -        1.3      (3.4)       -          (3.4)       
Finance costs 0.7      -        0.7      1.9        -          1.9        
Income taxes (2.1)    (0.1)    (2.2)    1.2        (0.1)       1.1        

Net income (loss) (5.3)    % (0.3)    % (5.6)    % 3.3        % (0.3)       % 3.0        %

 Three months ended September 30, 
2016 

 Three months ended September 30, 
2015 

 Year ended September 30, 
2016 

 Year ended September 30, 
2015 

 MFG  FEC  Total  MFG  FEC  Total 

Sales
Canada 2.8      % 5.4      % 8.2      % 8.5        % 5.6        % 14.1      %
Americas 30.6    -        30.6    71.0      -          71.0      
Other 61.2    -        61.2    14.9      -          14.9      

94.6    % 5.4      % 100.0  % 94.4      % 5.6        % 100.0    %

 MFG  FEC  Total  MFG  FEC  Total 

Sales
Canada 11.8    % 7.7      % 19.5    % 8.4        % 7.3        % 15.7      %
Americas 51.6    -        51.6    59.6      -          59.6      
Other 28.9    -        28.9    24.7      -          24.7      

92.3    % 7.7      % 100.0  % 92.7      % 7.3        % 100.0    %

 Three months ended September 30, 
2016 

 Three months ended September 30, 
2015 

 Year ended September 30, 
2016 

 Year ended September 30, 
2015 
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Results of Operations – Three Months Ended September 30, 2016 
Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2015 

Sales 

Sales increased by $244,045 (or 4.7%) to $5,488,474 in Q4-16 from $5,244,429 in Q4-15 due 
primarily to an increase in sales of $244,898 by our Manufacturing operations. 

We expected our sales to increase significantly in Q4-16 as compared to Q3-16. Sales increased by 
$876,037 (or 19.0%) to $5,488,474 in Q4-16 from $4,612,437 in Q3-16. Based on our updated sales 
forecasts, we are expecting sales to decrease moderately in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16. 

Gross Profit 

Gross profit percentage decreased to 19.3% of sales in Q4-16 from 34.2% in Q4-15. This decrease is 
due primarily to our Manufacturing operations which generated a gross profit percentage of 18.2% in 
Q4-16 compared to 33.5% in Q4-15. 

We expected our gross profit percentage to increase moderately in Q4-16 as compared to Q3-16. 
Gross profit percentage decreased to 19.3% in Q4-16 from 31.7% in Q3-16 due primarily to cost 
overruns on fixed-priced sales contracts and integration costs with IREC Corporation. Based on our 
updated sales-mix forecast, we are expecting our gross profit percentage to increase significantly in 
Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16. 

Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses, including foreign exchange gains and losses and finance costs, increased by 
$72,228 (or 4.8%) to $1,589,871 in Q4-16, from $1,517,643 in Q4-15. This increase is due primarily 
to the combined effect of a foreign exchange loss of $30,114 in Q4-16 as compared to a foreign 
exchange gain of $353,522 in Q4-15, partially offset by a decrease of $405,516 in selling and 
administrative expenses in Q4-16 as compared to Q4-15, due to the severance charge of $581,186 
from the retirement of the Corporation’s former Chief Executive Officer in Q4-15. 
 
We expected our operating expenses to decrease significantly, as a percentage of sales, in Q4-16 as 
compared to Q3-16. Our operating expenses increased to 29.0% of sales in Q4-16 from 28.4% in Q3-
16 due primarily to a foreign exchange loss of $30,114 in Q4-16 as compared to a foreign exchange 
gain of $166,555 in Q3-16. Based on our updated forecasts, we are expecting operating expenses to 
decrease significantly, as a percentage of sales, in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16. 

Income Taxes 

The income tax recovery of $182,914 in Q4-16 is due primarily to the income tax recovery on the loss 
before income taxes generated by our Manufacturing operations. The income tax expense of $61,747 
in Q4-15 is due primarily to the income tax expense on earnings before income taxes generated by 
our Manufacturing operations. 

Net Operating Results 

Net loss and total comprehensive loss amounted to $345,782, or net loss per share of $0.02, in Q4-
16, compared to net income and total comprehensive income of $216,409, or diluted net income per 
share of $0.01, in Q4-15. The decrease in net operating results is due primarily to the net loss 
generated by our Manufacturing operations in Q4-16. 
 
We expected our net operating results to improve significantly in Q4-16 as compared to Q3-16. We 
generated a net loss of $345,782 in Q4-16 compared to net income of $98,610 in Q3-16. We are 
expecting our net operating results to improve significantly in Q1-17 as compared to Q4-16 due 
primarily to higher anticipated gross profit margins. 
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Select Annual Information 

The following table sets forth selected annual information derived from our consolidated financial 
statements for each of the last three years ended September 30: 

 

 
 
We expected sales to increase moderately and net income to increase significantly in 2016 as 
compared to 2015, due primarily to an increase in anticipated orders from customers other than Billy 
Beez, and lower administrative expenses. Sales decreased by $179,074 (or 1.0%) to $17,023,914 in 
2016 from $17,202,988 in 2015 due primarily to a decrease in sales of $232,652 (or 2.9%) to Billy 
Beez. We incurred a net loss of $955,151 in 2016 as compared to net income of $517,062 in 2015 due 
primarily to significant cost overruns on fixed-priced sales contracts and integration costs with IREC 
Corporation in 2016. We do not anticipate the reoccurrence of significant cost overruns on sales 
contracts, or integration costs with IREC Corporation, in 2017. 

We are anticipating sales and gross profit margins to increase significantly and operating results to 
improve significantly in 2017 as compared to 2016, due to expected increases in both sales and gross 
profits margins to Billy Beez and non-Billy Beez customers.    

The increase in our total assets from 2014 to 2016 is due primarily to an increase in our working 
capital, leveraged by an increase in operating loans and securitization debt.  

The decrease in long-term financial liabilities from 2014 to 2015 is due to the extinguishment of the 
subordinate debt in 2015. 

We do not anticipate declaring dividends in 2017. 

Results of Operations – Year Ended September 30, 2016 Compared to Year 
Ended September 30, 2015 

Sales 

Sales decreased by $179,074 (or 1.0%) to $17,023,914 in 2016 from $17,202,988 in 2015 due 
primarily to a decrease in sales of $235,009 by our Manufacturing operations. 
 
We are expecting a significant increase in sales for our financial year ending September 30, 2017 
(“2017”) compared to 2016 due to anticipated higher sales to Billy Beez and non-Billy Beez customers. 

Gross Profit 

Gross profit percentage decreased to 28.8% of sales in 2016 from 36.8% in 2015. This decrease is 
due primarily to a lower gross profit percentage by our Manufacturing operations which generated a 
gross profit percentage of 27.8% in 2016, compared to 36.5% in 2015. 
 
We expect our gross profit percentage to increase significantly in 2017 as compared to 2016 due 
primarily to the anticipated non-reoccurrence of significant cost overruns on fixed-priced sales 
contracts, and integration costs with IREC Corporation, in 2017. 
  

Sales Net income (loss)
Basic and diluted 
income per share Total assets

Long-term 
financial liabilities Cash dividends

2014 $16,537,972 $1,006,514 $   0.10 $12,171,833 $353,549 ---

2015 $17,202,988 $ 517,062 $   0.03 $16,662,068 --- ---

2016 $17,023,914 $ (955,151) $ (0.05) $23,534,363 --- ---
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Operating Expenses 

Operating expenses, including foreign exchange gains and losses and finance costs, increased by 
$605,796 (or 10.8%) to $6,220,777 in 2016 from $5,614,981 in 2015. This increase is due primarily 
to a foreign exchange loss of $220,262 in 2016 as compared to a foreign exchange gain of $586,025 
in 2015. Selling and administrative expenses increased due primarily to higher rent, travel and trade 
show expenses, and a severance payment to a former employee. 
 
Actual results versus expected results for 2016 as compared to 2015 are as follows: 

■ We expected selling and administrative expenses to remain in-line with 2015, excluding 
depreciation and the severance charge of $581,186 from the retirement of the Corporation’s 
former Chief Executive Officer. Actual selling and administrative expenses, excluding 
depreciation increased by $579,486 (or 11.4%) due primarily to higher rent, travel and trade 
show expenses, and a severance payment to a former employee. 

■ We expected a moderate increase in depreciation expense. Actual depreciation expense 
increased by $31,147 (or 9.2%).  

■ We expected a significant decrease in the net foreign exchange gain from 2015. We incurred a 
net foreign exchange loss of $220,262 in 2016 as compared to a foreign exchange gain of 
$586,025 in 2015. 

■ We expected a significant decrease in net finance costs.  Actual finance costs decreased by 
205,344 (or 64.2%) due to the non-recurring interest charges from the extinguishment of the 
subordinate debt in 2015. 

 
We expect the following in 2017 as compared to 2016: 

■ Selling and administrative expenses to remain in-line with 2016. 

■ Moderate increase in depreciation expense due to the combined effect of a complete year of 
depreciation of the capital expenditures made in 2016 and anticipated capital expenditures in 
2017.  

■ Moderate decrease in net foreign exchange loss, assuming stabilization of the Canadian dollar 
against the U.S. dollar. 

■ Moderate increase in finance costs due to anticipated increases in operating loans and 
securitization debt for the financing of larger sales orders. 

Income Taxes 

The income tax recovery of $368,544 in 2016 is due primarily to the income tax recovery on the loss 
before income taxes generated by our Manufacturing operations. The income tax expense of $194,619 
in 2015 is due primarily to the income tax expense on earnings before income taxes generated by our 
Manufacturing operations. We expect our effective income tax rate in 2017 to remain in-line with our 
effective tax rate of 27.8% in 2016. 

Net Operating Results 

Net loss and total comprehensive loss was $955,151, or net loss per share of $0.05, in 2016, 
compared to net income and total comprehensive income of $517,062, or diluted net income per 
share of $0.03 in 2015. The decrease in net operating results is due primarily to our Manufacturing 
operations. 
 
 
  



 

Management’s Discussion and Analysis 
2016 Three Months and Year Ended  

September 30, 2016 

 
 

    8 

 

Quarterly Results of Operations 

The following tables set forth unaudited consolidated statements of operations data, and unaudited 
statements of operations data for the Manufacturing and FEC business segments, for each of the eight 
most recent quarters that, in management’s opinion, have been prepared on a basis consistent with 
the consolidated financial statements for the years ended September 30, 2016 and 2015. The 
unaudited quarterly statements of operations data presented below reflects all adjustments, consisting 
primarily of normal recurring adjustments, which are, in the opinion of management, necessary for a 
fair presentation of results for the interim periods. These operating results are not necessarily 
indicative of results for any future period. 

 
  
Our quarterly results fluctuate due primarily to the combined effect of significant variability in our 
sales, and operating expenses that are generally fixed. The impact of significant items incurred during 
these interim periods is discussed in more detail in our condensed consolidated interim financial 
statements and MD&A.  
 
  

Q1-15 Q2-15 Q3-15 Q4-15 Q1-16 Q2-16 Q3-16 Q4-16
CONSOLIDATED 31-Dec-14 31-Mar-15 30-Jun-15 30-Sep-15 31-Dec-15 31-Mar-16 30-Jun-16 30-Sep-16

Sales 4,349,720$   3,198,377$   4,410,462$   5,244,429$   3,618,561$   3,304,442$   4,612,437$   5,488,474$ 
Cost of sales 2,541,972     1,911,898     2,973,826     3,448,630     2,197,420     2,351,245     3,150,868     4,427,299   
Gross profit 1,807,748     1,286,479     1,436,636     1,795,799     1,421,141     953,197        1,461,569     1,061,175   

Selling and administrative expenses 1,308,498     1,235,993     1,445,286     1,891,170     1,397,892     1,562,281     1,439,973     1,485,654   
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (30,129)        (190,275)       (12,099)        (353,522)       (218,840)       575,543        (166,555)       30,114        
Finance costs 227,929        63,436          48,699          (20,005)        -                  1,892           38,720          74,103        
Income taxes 81,141          46,847          4,884           61,747          65,316          (301,767)       50,821          (182,914)    

Net income (loss) 220,309$      130,478$      (50,134)$       216,409$      176,773$      (884,752)$     98,610$        (345,782)$  

Basic and diluted net income (loss) 
per share 0.01$           0.01$           (0.00)$          0.01$           0.01$           (0.04)$          0.00$           (0.02)$        

Q1-15 Q2-15 Q3-15 Q4-15 Q1-16 Q2-16 Q3-16 Q4-16
MANUFACTURING 31-Dec-14 31-Mar-15 30-Jun-15 30-Sep-15 31-Dec-15 31-Mar-16 30-Jun-16 30-Sep-16

Sales 4,022,711$   2,816,501$   4,162,310$   4,949,115$   3,264,525$   2,907,092$   4,349,998$   5,194,013$ 
Cost of sales 2,330,379     1,713,213     2,797,426     3,291,253     1,962,975     2,156,338     2,972,236     4,250,860   
Gross profit 1,692,332     1,103,288     1,364,884     1,657,862     1,301,550     750,754        1,377,762     943,153      

Selling and administrative expenses 1,159,772     1,094,054     1,298,976     1,739,126     1,248,478     1,410,792     1,293,113     1,337,378   
Foreign exchange loss (gain) (30,129)        (190,275)       (12,099)        (353,522)       (218,840)       575,543        (166,555)       30,114        
Finance costs 227,929        63,436          48,699          (20,005)        -                  1,892           38,720          74,103        
Income taxes 89,790          36,115          23,872          64,619          73,075          (315,014)       63,734          (171,573)    

Net income 244,970$      99,958$        5,436$          227,644$      198,837$      (922,459)$     148,750$      (326,869)$  

Q1-15 Q2-15 Q3-15 Q4-15 Q1-16 Q2-16 Q3-16 Q4-16
FEC 31-Dec-14 31-Mar-15 30-Jun-15 30-Sep-15 31-Dec-15 31-Mar-16 30-Jun-16 30-Sep-16

Sales 327,009$      381,876$      248,152$      295,314$      354,036$      397,350$      262,439$      294,461$    
Cost of sales 211,593        198,685        176,400        157,377        234,445        194,907        178,632        176,439      
Gross profit 115,416        183,191        71,752          137,937        119,591        202,443        83,807          118,022      

Selling and administrative expenses 148,726        141,939        146,310        152,044        149,414        151,489        146,860        148,276      
Finance costs -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                  -                 
Income taxes (8,649)          10,732          (18,988)        (2,872)          (7,759)          13,247          (12,913)        (11,341)      

Net income (loss) (24,661)$       30,520$        (55,570)$       (11,235)$       (22,064)$       37,707$        (50,140)$       (18,913)$    
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The following are significant items affecting our consolidated quarterly results of operations: 

■ The decrease in net operating results from Q1-15 to Q2-15 is due primarily to lower sales in 
Q2-15 compared to Q1-15. 

■ The decrease in net operating results from Q2-15 to Q3-15 is due primarily to higher 
administrative expenses in Q3-15 compared to Q2-15. 

■ The increase in net operating results from Q3-15 to Q4-15 is due primarily to higher sales in 
Q4-15 compared to Q3-15. 

■ The decrease in net operating results from Q4-15 to Q1-16 is due primarily to lower sales, 
partially offset by lower operating expenses, in Q1-16 compared to Q4-15. 

■ The decrease in net operating results from Q1-16 to Q2-16 is due primarily to lower gross 
profit margin, a foreign exchange loss and higher selling and administrative expenses, in Q2-
16 compared to Q1-16. 

■ The increase in net operating results from Q2-16 to Q3-16 is due primarily to the foreign 
exchange loss in Q2-16 as compared to the foreign exchange gain in Q3-16. 

■ The decrease in net operating results from Q3-16 to Q4-16 is due primarily to lower gross 
margin profit, a foreign exchange loss and higher selling and administrative expenses, in Q4-
16 compared to Q3-16. 

Liquidity and Capital Resources 

Operating Activities 

Cash used in operating activities amounted to $1,488,128 in Q4-16, compared to cash provided by 
operating activities of $1,859,780 in Q4-15. The change is due primarily to the collection of finance 
receivables of $3,117,746 in Q4-15. 

Cash used in operating activities increased to $5,700,968 in 2016 from $1,210,309 in 2015 due 
primarily to an increase in finance receivables of $3,688,810 in 2016 as compared to a decrease from 
the collection of finance receivables of $3,388,255 in 2015. 

Except for the collection of finance receivables, we expect our operating activities to continue to use 
cash as our working capital requirements increase to support growth in our sales. 

Investing Activities 

Cash used in investing activities decreased to $91,082 in Q4-16 from $158,632 in Q4-15 due to a 
decrease in purchases of equipment in Q4-16 as compared to Q4-15. 

Cash used in investing activities increased to $753,685 for 2016 from $454,286 for 2015 due to the 
acquisition of IREC Corporation and an increase in purchases of equipment in 2016 as compared to 
2015. 

We have not entered into any proposed material asset or business acquisition or disposition 
agreements, and we do not anticipate to increase significantly our investment in capital expenditures 
in 2017. 

Financing Activities 

Cash provided by financing activities amounted to $2,520,038 in Q4-16, compared to cash used by 
financing activities of $2,805,971 in Q4-15 due to receipt of proceeds from the operating loans in Q4-
16 as compared to repayment of the securitization debt in Q4-15. 
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Cash provided by financing activities increased to $6,630,332 in 2016 from $4,430,901 in 2015 due 
primarily to the proceeds from the operating loans and the securitization debt in 2016 as compared to 
the net repayment of the securitization debt and repayment of the subordinate debt in 2015. 

Our off-balance sheet financing is comprised of long-term operating lease arrangements for premises 
concluded in the normal course of business.  The Corporation has no off-balance sheet special purpose 
entities. 

Cash Requirements 

Our near-term cash requirements are primarily related to funding our operations, repaying our 
operating loans, and funding our capital expenditures. We expect our working capital requirements to 
continue to increase due to the anticipated increase in sales orders from related parties for the 
expansion of the Billy Beez family entertainment centres. 

Our sources of cash include cash on hand, trade receivables, customer deposits, cash from operations, 
and funding from our credit facilities (see “Credit Facilities”). We expect our sources of cash to be 
sufficient to fund our forecast cash outflows for at least the next twelve months. 

Sources and Uses of Cash 

The sources of funds for our future capital expenditures and commitments include cash on hand, trade 
receivables, cash from operations, and borrowings (see “Credit Facilities”) as follows: 

■ Cash and cash equivalents of $5,109,026 at September 30, 2016 (September 30, 2015 – 
$4,947,024). 

■ Trade and other receivables of $9,374,759 at September 30, 2016 (September 30, 2015 – 
$6,873,151). 

Our objective when managing capital is to maintain sufficient liquidity for normal operating and capital 
expenditures, while maintaining an adequate return for shareholders. 

The Corporation’s capital is comprised of operating loans, securitization debt, and shareholders’ 
equity.  

The Corporation funds its working capital requirements in part with cash and cash equivalents, and an 
available Overdraft Facility of $600,000, an Operating Loan Facility of U.S. $2,500,000 ($3,279,000 in 
Canadian dollars), and a Securitization Facility of U.S. $7,920,000 ($10,389,000 in Canadian dollars), 
which are subject to annual renewals (see “Credit Facilities”). 

We choose securitization as part of our capital strategy to reduce our credit risk when offering 
extended credit terms to certain customers with larger orders. The servicing of the finance receivables 
remains the responsibility of the Corporation and the Bank retains the right of recourse against the 
Corporation if any finance receivable is not collected by the Bank on its due date. Any finance 
receivable not collected by the Bank on its due date is subject to payment upon demand to the Bank 
at the Bank’s U.S. dollar annual prime rate plus 3.00% per annum payable monthly in arrears. 

Our debt is subject to a number of covenants and restrictions including the requirement to meet 
certain financial ratios and financial condition tests. At September 30, 2016, all financial ratios and 
tests have been met. 

The Corporation manages its capital structure to maintain the flexibility to adjust to changes in 
economic conditions and to respond to interest rate, foreign exchange, credit, and other market risks. 
In management’s opinion, the Corporation’s capital and ongoing cash flows from operations are 
sufficient to fund its anticipated contractual obligations, future operations, and capital expenditures. 
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Credit Facilities 

The Corporation has the following credit facilities (the “Credit Facilities”) with a large Canadian 
financial institution (the “Bank”), as amended on January 26, 2016: 

(a) Overdraft Facility 

The Overdraft Facility is a demand revolving loan of up to $600,000 bearing interest at the 
bank’s prime rate plus 1.50% per annum and margined by trade receivables and certain 
equipment of the Corporation. 

(b) Export Loan Facility  

The Export Loan Facility is comprised of a manufacturer’s advance facility in the form of a 
demand revolving line of U.S. $2,500,000 ($3,279,000 in Canadian dollars) (“Operating Loan 
Facility”) and a trade invoice non-recourse financing facility in the form of a demand revolving 
line of U.S. $7,920,000 ($10,389,000 in Canadian dollars) (“Securitization Facility”). 

Operating Loan Facility 
Under the Operating Loan Facility, the Corporation may finance up to 60% of customer 
purchase orders approved by the Bank. The Operating Loan Facility bears interest at the U.S. 
dollar London Interbank Offered Rate (“USD LIBOR”) plus 4.00% per annum and is payable on 
demand or within 160 days of funding. 

Securitization Facility 
Under the Securitization Facility, the Corporation may sell to the Bank select insured trade 
receivables net of a discount fee of USD LIBOR plus 3.50%. 

(c) Foreign Exchange Loan Facility  

The Foreign Exchange Loan Facility is a demand revolving line of U.S. $1,440,000 ($1,889,000 
in Canadian dollars) for the purchase of foreign exchange forward contracts and options up to 
an aggregate of U.S. $8,000,000 ($10,494,000 in Canadian dollars), with a maximum 
maturity of 12 months.  

 
The Credit Facilities are governed and secured by a general security agreement creating a first priority 
security interest in all property of the Corporation. The conditions of credit include compliance with 
various covenants. 

Market Risk Disclosure 

Currency risk 

We are exposed to currency fluctuations and exchange rate risk on all operations conducted in 
currencies other than the Canadian dollar. We cannot accurately predict the future effects of foreign 
currency fluctuations on our financial condition or results of operations.  

We are exposed to foreign currency fluctuations because a significant portion of our sales are 
denominated in U.S. dollars and a significant portion of our expenses are incurred in Canadian dollars. 
We monitor our exposure to fluctuations between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar and manage 
this risk by entering into foreign exchange forward contracts.  We do not enter into foreign exchange 
forward contracts for speculative purposes. 

As described above in “Credit Facilities”, we have a demand revolving line of U.S. $1,440,000 
($1,889,000 in Canadian dollars) to purchase foreign exchange forward contracts and options up to an 
aggregate of U.S. $8,000,000 ($10,494,000 in Canadian dollars), with a maximum maturity of 12 
months. We use this facility to manage our currency risk resulting from fluctuations in foreign exchange 
rates between primarily the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar.  
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During the year ended September 30, 2016, we recorded a net foreign exchange gain of $54,107 on 
foreign exchange forward contracts (September 30, 2015 – net loss of $15,266). 

At September 30, 2016, we had various foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding with maturity 
dates from November 28, 2016 to September 29, 2017 and a total commitment to sell $6,000,000 U.S. 
dollars and purchase $7,797,318 Canadian dollars at exchange rates ranging from $1.29217 to $1.30906. 
The mark-to-market fair value of the foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at September 30, 
2016 represents a liability of $60,716 for the Corporation and is recorded as an unrealized foreign 
exchange loss in the consolidated statements of operations and comprehensive income (loss). There were 
no foreign exchange forward contracts outstanding at September 30, 2015. 

A sensitivity analysis has been performed assuming the foreign exchange rate changes by 5% at 
September 30, 2016 and 2015.  For every 5% strengthening of the U.S. dollar against the Canadian 
dollar, with all other variables held constant, the net loss and total comprehensive loss for the year ended 
September 30, 2016 would decrease by approximately $406,000 (September 30, 2015 – net income and 
total comprehensive income would increase by approximately $330,000). A weakening of the U.S. dollar 
against the Canadian dollar would have the opposite effect. The increase in sensitivity to foreign exchange 
rate changes between the U.S. dollar and the Canadian dollar is due to an increase in the Corporation’s 
net assets denominated in U.S. dollars from U.S. $4,931,925 ($6,605,821 in Canadian dollars) at 
September 30, 2015 to U.S. $6,190,298 ($8,119,814 in Canadian dollars) at September 30, 2016. 

Credit risk 

Credit risk is the risk of an unexpected loss if a customer or third party to a financial instrument fails to 
meet its contractual obligations.  The carrying amounts of cash and cash equivalents, trade and finance 
receivables recorded in the consolidated statements of financial position represent the Corporation’s 
maximum exposure to credit risk. 

The credit risk associated with the Corporation’s cash and cash equivalents is limited because these 
financial assets are held through large financial institutions with a high investment grade rating. 

We perform ongoing credit evaluations of our customers and carry third party insurance on trade 
receivables from customers with larger orders. 

At September 30, 2016, trade receivables from Billy Beez amount to $8,735,580 (September 30, 2015 - 
$6,216,413) and represent approximately 93% of the balance of trade receivables (September 30, 2015 
– 90%). At September 30, 2016, past due trade receivables from Billy Beez amount to $551,455 
(September 30, 2015 - $1,328,638). It is the opinion of management that these accounts do not 
represent a significant credit risk. 

Interest rate risk 

Interest rate risk refers to the risk that the fair value of a financial instrument or the future cash flows 
associated with the instrument will fluctuate due to changes in market interest rates.  The Corporation’s 
interest rate risk arises primarily from its operating loans and securitization debt, which are subject to 
variable interest rates. At September 30, 2016, the Corporation’s operating loans of $3,238,430 and 
securitization debt of $3,461,314 are subject to variable interest rate obligations ranging from USD LIBOR 
plus 3.50% to USD LIBOR plus 4.00% per annum. 

Liquidity risk 

Liquidity risk is the risk that the Corporation will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they 
fall due.  

We manage our liquidity risk by maintaining cash and available funds from our existing credit facilities, 
as outlined above in “Liquidity and Capital Resources”. 
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Legal Proceedings 

We are engaged in certain legal actions in the ordinary course of business due primarily to injury 
claims from the use of play structure equipment we have supplied to various customers.  We carry 
commercial general liability insurance and believe that the ultimate outcome of these actions will not 
have a material adverse effect on our operating results, liquidity or financial position. 

Related Party Transactions 

The Corporation recorded the following sales in U.S. dollars to various entities controlled by FAS (the 
“Affiliates”): 

 
  

The Corporation’s finance receivables and trade and other receivables include the following amounts 
denominated in U.S. dollars that are due from the Affiliates: 

 

Outstanding Share Capital 

At September 30, 2016, the Corporation had 20,870,187 common shares and 1,065,000 warrants 
issued and outstanding, and no share options outstanding. On October 1, 2016, the warrants expired 
unexercised. At December 7, 2016, the Corporation had 20,870,187 common shares issued and 
outstanding, and no warrants or share options outstanding. 

  

2016 2015

Sales in U.S. dollars 5,876,516$   6,467,352$     

Equivalent in Canadian dollars 7,778,083     8,010,735       

Years ended September 30, 

2016 2015

Balance in U.S. dollars 6,659,740$   4,641,192$     

Equivalent in Canadian dollars 8,735,580     6,216,413       

September 30, 
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Cautionary Note Regarding Forward-looking Statements 

Certain statements in this report that are not based on historical facts constitute forward-looking 
statements or forward-looking information within the meaning of Canadian securities laws (“forward-
looking statements”). These forward-looking statements are not promises or guarantees of future 
performance but are only predictions that relate to future events, conditions or circumstances or our 
future results, performance, achievements or developments and are subject to substantial known and 
unknown risks, assumptions, uncertainties and other factors that could cause our actual results, 
performance, achievements or developments in our business or in our industry to differ materially 
from those expressed, anticipated or implied by such forward-looking statements. Forward-looking 
statements include disclosure regarding possible events, conditions circumstances or results of 
operations that are based on assumptions about future economic conditions, courses of action and 
other future events. We caution you not to place undue reliance upon any such forward-looking 
statements, which speak only as of the date they are made. These forward-looking statements appear 
in a number of different places in this report and can be identified by words such as “may”, 
“estimates”, “projects”, “expects”, “intends”, “believes”, “plans”, “anticipates”, “continue”, “growing”, 
“expanding” or their negatives or other comparable words. Forward-looking statements include 
statements regarding the outlook for our future operations, plans and timing for the introduction or 
enhancement of our services and products, statements concerning strategies or developments, 
statements about future market conditions, supply conditions, end customer demand conditions, 
sales, gross profit, operating expenses, profits, forecasts of future costs and expenditures, the 
outcome of legal proceedings, and other expectations, intentions and plans that are not historical fact. 
The risk factors and uncertainties that may affect our actual results, performance, achievements or 
developments are many and include, amongst others, our ability to develop, manufacture, supply and 
market new products that we do not produce today and that meet the needs of customers, the 
continuous commitment of our customers and increased competition.  Many of the risk factors that 
affect our business are beyond our control. Consequently, all forward-looking statements in this report 
are qualified by this cautionary statement and we cannot assure you that the actual results, 
performance, achievements or developments that we anticipate will be realized. Forward-looking 
statements are based on management’s current plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions and 
we do not undertake any obligation to update forward-looking statements should the assumptions 
related to these plans, estimates, projections, beliefs and opinions change, except as required by law. 
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